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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

WF /w1’

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Eamings (US$ millions)
MNet income after Tax 106 1 853 1005 1181 676
Net Interest Income 167 3 1957 193 4 169 7 1396
Other Income 1203 88 4 703 127 3 77 4
Operating Expenses 126 1 1156 1181 1323 1099
Financial Posiion (US$ milhons)
Total Assets 17,302 4 16,2365 15,2320 15,1195 15,679 4
Avallable-for-Sale Securities 8,451 8 8,280 4 7.641 7 7.062 1 5,451 4
Loans 3,759 6 3.2558 3,309 4 3,9231 40380
Term Financing 1,501 3 8800 8300 8500 7500
Shareholders’ Equity 1,388 8 11282 1,193 7 1,205 8 11377
Rauios (Per cent)
Profitability
Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity 84 73 84 101 65
Return on Average Assets 06 05 07 08 05
Capital
BIS Risk Asset Ratio

Total 125 128 126 M5 122

Tier 1 100 103 102 102 109
Shareholders’ Equity as % of Total Assets 80 69 78 80 73
Asset Quality
Securities as % of Total Assets 580 58 4 568 498 382
Loans as % of Tolal Assets 217 201 217 259 258
Liquidhty
Liquid Assets Ratic 167 779 751 o 713
Deposits to Loans Cover (umes)* 31 36 36 31 30

* Deposits include Term Financing
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
1 am pleased to present the annual report of Gulf
International Bank B S C (G!B) for the year ended
315! December 2003 Sigmficant improvements and
advances across the Group’s major operating
activities cnabled GIB to post its second highest ever
result at US$106 ! mllion Given the numerous
political and economic uncertainties challenging the
early stages of global economuc recovery mn 2003,
GIB's performance was particularly creditable and
further testimony to the resilience of the Group's
new GCC-focused merchant banking strategy The
objecuve of enhanced returns to shareholders is
bemg fulfilled and favourable recognition has been
accorded GIB by clients, supervisory authonttes and
international credit rating agenctes

GIB saw a noticeable improvement in its
operating environment as 2003 progressed In the
carly months of the year, there were serious
concerns about the impact the miltary conflict in
Iraq might have on the GCC states, the SARS
epidemic 1in Asia was spreading alarmingly, and
there were clear signs of deflatronary pressures tn all
the world’s major economies From mid-year, and
following both the US Federal Reserve’s and the
European Central Bank’s decisions to cut interest
rates to histonic lows, market sentiment responded
posiively and economic output increased The
mternational bond market began to put distance
between uself and the unprecedented number of
corporate scandals and defaults of the previous year,
and iniemanonal credit rating agencies started 1o
adopt a more positive stance on key sovereign and

corporate risk worldwide

SHEIKH EBRAHIM BIN KHALIFA
AL KHALIFA
CHAIRMAN
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT continued
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Positive growth momentum 1n the GCC
economies was firmly maintained in 2003 Any
investor nervousness at the begmning of the year
was countered by continued improvements in
government finances and further determined
moves towards economic reform, diversification
and 1integration Oil prices durmng the year
remamed comfortably within or above the OPEC
target range Regional stock markets were active
and new government borrowing mstruments were
well supported by local institutions Global
recogmtion of the growimg importance, maturnty
and international nterdcpendency of the GCC
economies was reflected in Dubai’s highly
successful hosting 1n September 2003 of the first
IMF/World Bank annual meetings 1o be held in
the GCC

The many and vaned range of business
opportunities within GIB’s franchise in the GCC
together with 1mprovements i global market
performances were major contributory factors to
the Group’s strong result i 2003 Productivity
and efficiency gans at pomnt of delivery were
equally important GIB maintained 1ts position as
the leading financier and arranger in a much-
expanded regional project finance market In the
context of the recently adopted merchant banking
strategy, the increase in investment banking,
advisory and management fees to US$18 8 mulhon
was encouraging as was the related cvent of non-
interest income exceeding nterest income, net of
provistons, for the first time 1n GIB s listory The
Riyadh branch has developed very promusingly

since its opening n September 2000 and 1s now
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operating as a consistently profitable and integral
unit of the GIB Group In 2004 1t 1s planned to
expand the Group's activities 1n Saudi Arabia by
establishing a presence n Jeddah, the kingdom’s
second largest culy and major commerctal hub

GIB’s shareholders’ equity at the end of
2003 stood at US$1,388 8 mullion, representing a
23 1 per cent increase over the equity at the end of
2002 of US$1,128 2 mulhon This increase partly
reflects 2003 net income, but also more
significantly a strong recovery in the adjustment
to equity in relation to the fair value of the
avaitable-for-sale securities portfolio  This
recovery was anticipated in my Statement last
year At the end of 2003, the fair value of the
available-for-sale securities porifolio comfortably
exceeded the book value reflecting a substantial
narrowing of credit spreads dunng the year GIB’s
BIS capital adequacy ratio was 12 5 per cent at
the end of 2003, a level that allows considerable
flexibihty in reconcihing desirable balance sheet
growth ambitions with the capitahsation concerns
of supervisory authorities and international credut
rating  agencies Notwithstanding  GIB’s
comparatively strong capital rabios relative to
regional and mternational peers, the Group’s
return on average shareholders’ equity at 8 4 per
cent for 2003 can be evaluated favourably against
prevailing invesiment benchmarks

It 1s gratifying to report that the successful
implementation of GIB’s merchant banking
strategy and the resultant improvement n the
Group’s financial performance were recognised in

the iast two months of the year by two sigmificant




credit ratimg upgrades In November, Fitch
upgraded GIB’s key long-term foreign currency
credit rating from ‘BBB+" to ‘A-" This was
foliowed 1n December by an upgrade in Moody’s
long-term foreign currency rating from ‘Baa2’ to
‘Baal’ These rating upgrades should have a very
direct and beneficial impact on the Group’s
funding costs The Futch rating also places GIB
among a higher tier category of banks 1n the Basel
Committee’s proposed new capital adequacy
accord, which s currently planned for
implementation by the end of 2006 This
posittoning again holds out the prospect of
distinct commercial advantages

The Board of Directors fully appreciates
and supports management's concern to protect
and, where possible, to mmprove GIB’s credit
ratings It also believes that independent
validation of the Group’s potential for mnereased
pariicipation 1n ‘GCC economic development 1s
warranted The outlook for world and regionat
econormes 1n 2004 1s stgmficantly more positive
than that for 2003, although several contentious
issues regarding nternational trade, law and
finance remain to be resolved With lLiquidity
levels, contracting activity, corporate
restructunings and overall business confidence 1n
the GCC and the region as a whole anticipated to
nise, GIB 1s hopeful of 1dentifying more diverse
and multiple opportunities to employ 1its treasury,
asset management, investment banking and
project and structured finance skills

In conclusion, and as in previous years, I

should like to express my sincere appreciation on
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behalf of the Board of Durectors for the continued
support of GIB’s shareholders, for the skills and
dedicanon of GIB's thighly experienced
management and staff, and for the constructive
cooperation which GIB enjoys with the regulatory
authoriies that supervise and facilitate 1ts

activities

Ebrahim Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa

Chatrman
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

IMPROVING GLOBAL ECONOMIC AND
market conditions 1n the second half of 2003
provided the most posiive overall business
environment GIB has expenenced since the adoption
of 1its new merchant banking strategy in 2001 As a
result, stronger contributions right across the
Group’s major operating activities produced a highly
satisfactory financial performance for the year
Encouraging prospects for 2004 are supported by the
continucd economic expansion and diversification of
GCC and regional markets, and by GiB’s own more
balanced earnings profile, raised international credit
ratings and active business development programme
Demand for GIB's merchant and investment banking
products and services 15 growing in tandem with
important and beneficial structural reforms in the

GCC states” financial infrastructure

ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS OVYERVIEW

Economic recovery 1n 2003 was slow o matenalise
and remamned hesiant 1n nature As the year
progressed, however, rising year-on-year quarterly
expansion retumns for the US, Eurozone and Asiwan
economies increased confidence that the fundamentals
of a sustamable rally were mn place The threat of
wotldwide deflation and the nisks of double-dip
recession 1n advanced economies were addressed by
further monetary loosening and fiscal sumulus i the
form of tax cuts and tncreased deficit spending Major
stock markets around the world responded with key
indices posting therr first annual advances since 1999
1IN most cases, emergmng markets’ gains were even
stronger On commodiies exchanges, precious and

base metals and crude o1l were major performers, with
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Brent crude futures ending the year above
US830/barrel for the first ime since their introduction
in 1988 This growth momentum ts widely expected lo
continue m 2004, with nsing international corporate
earnings underpinming market sentiment

For governments and busmesses in the GCC
states, as for GIB’s management, the pnncipal concemn
mn the early months of 2003 had to be the military
conflict 1n lraq and its possible wider economic
ramifications Minor alterations to normal operations,
as well as the planning and contingencies put 1n place
to counter potentially damaging developments, were
mmportant factors 1 determining lower levels of
business as well as delayed mvestment decistons
throughout the region during this period The
curtailment of direct threats to GCC states” interests
from the conflict was, however, followed by a ramd
resumption and revival of all forms of govemmental,
commercial and consumer actsvity Furthermore, the
broad range of influences hfting local markets in the
second half of 2003 reflected positively on the
increased diversificanon and consolidation of the
GCC economic area, and on the berefits of recent
reforms of government finance and of foreign
ownershtp, competition, labour and capital markets
laws 1 individual states The introducuon of a
umform 5 per cent GCC import taniff in January 2003
marked a further important step towards the creation
of a GCC common market

Notwithstanding the bolstenng effect that
strong mternational crude o1l prices had on GCC
states” budgetary revenues in 2003, 111s the successful
and deliberate de-linking of governments’ spending

from ol price fluctuation over successive o1l price




cycles since the 1980s that 1s attracting the plaudits of

international economic observers and leading to
sovereign rating upgrades By focusing on reducing
annual budget deficits and improving management of
outstanding domestic debt programmes, GCC
govermnments are credited with providing the more
stable and conducive environment within which non-
o1l econome achivity can progressively flounsh The
privatisation of key services, industnies and
infrastructure 1nstallations, as well as the re-
orgamsation and corporatisation of other public
concerns, has enabled governments successfully to
pass on to regional financal markets the financing of
the mvestment and working capital demands of many
productive umits 2003 saw sigmificant pnvate and
jomt sector, actual or planned expansion n the
petrochemicals and base metals industnes, as well as
i building matenals led by a new phase of cement
plant capactty ncreases The tounsm and hotels
sectors of the GCC states are also making an ever
more substantial contnibution to local economc
activity and employment, supported by the widening
range of international conferences and sporiing events
successfully hosted 1n the Gulf

The potential of the GCC to conlinue to
feature as one of the more rapidly expanding regions
of the world 1s rated gh, especially considenng that
when the Iraqs market stabilises GCC companies and
financial institutions wall be ideally placed to
participate fully in the country’s reconstruction
effort Aggregate demand 1n the umfied GCC market
18 driven by compelling population factors — high
birth rates, a youthful demographic profile and

imcreasing hife expectancy — that are beginning to
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provide for internationally competitive economies of
scale m light manufacturimg and services Internal
and extemnal resource mobilisation has been greatly
improved domestically, through more sophisticated
fiscal and monetary management and more effective
financial market intermediation, which in turn 1s now
encouraging private sector capital repatriation on a
long-term basts, externally, through lengthening the
matunty terms of international financings i support
of the long lead-ume requirements of key world-
scale hydrocarbon and industry developments
Overall, and as a commutted party to the process,
GIB’s management 1s confident of the capacity of the
GCC states to continue evolving the market
mechauisms and instuutions required to support
entrepreneurship and investment and to deliver

sustainable economic growth

MERCHANT BANKING

Strategically targeted chent marketing provided clear
focus and the desired results for GIB's commercial
banking activities i 2003 Loans and advances i the
GCC rose substanually in gross tenms desprte sigmificant
levels of repayments during the year GIB managed to
secure a lead arranger role m almost all the region’s major
project finance borrowings completed in 2003, bullding
on established relationships either with the project
company itself or key project sponsors Contact with
many of the Gulf’s foremost contractors, traders and real
estate developers was also regularly mamtained and
facihues adjusted mm line with updated business
requirements, current exposure profiles, and new product
and services availlability The Riyadh branch increased by

around a thwd the number of new corporate customers 1t




had acquired since opening n late 2000 and took over the
relationship handling and calling programme for GIB’s
existing cltents in the Western Province Within the Near
East geographical area, business was focused on
mamntaining healthy levels of deposit gathenng through
active management of GIB’s relabonships with
government entites and banks Other intemational
exposures contmued to be gradually reduced as GIB
phased out or dechned all but core client business with
export credit agencies, banks and multmational
corporations related to Gulf or North African markets

GIB’s achievement 1n increasing its share of
GCC project finance transactions in 2003 was highly
satisfymg Extensive involvement in this growth area
1s an important element of the Groups merchant
banking strategy, but the market 1s challenging and
compeutive Transactions are complicated in structure
and documentation, and can be both cxceptionally
time sensitive and time and cost consumng
Managing the uncertamnties of such a deal pipeline,
and recovenng adequate costs through margins and
fees, requires not only patience and financial backing
but also the type of expenence, expertise and know-
how for which GIB 15 now widely recogmsed

The main charactenstics of the 2003 project
finance market were a pronounced lengthemng of
borrowing matunties and further use of long-term
Islamic ieasing instruments With many new
borrowings also including an element of refinancing
of old facilitzes, the average size of loans also rose In
response to these factors, clients looked to increase the
number of banks involved m lead management groups
and also began to put restrictions on the extent of sell-

down allowed 1n general syndication
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Key examples of GIB’s mvolvement in the
2003 GCC project finance market include deals signed
early n the year for beneficiaries in Bahrain, the UAE
and Qatar The largest five-tranche USS1 6 billion loan
for Atumimum Bahrain (Alba) was finalised n Apnl
2003 on the basis of lead arrangement mandates
awarded in November 2002 GIB underwrote the
US$500 million unsecured commercial loan along
with nine other banks, a US$300 nullion alumimum-
linked tranche with another ¢o-underwriter, and the
US$250 mulhon Islamic tranche with six other
stitutions The loan was raised to finance Alba’s fifth
pothine expansion project In the UAE, GIB was
appointed lead arranger and reglonal book-runner for
two out of three tranches of a US$875 mullion loan for
the Umim Al Nar Independent Water and Power Project
(IWPP), the proceeds being used to acquire existing
water and power assets from the government and to
develop additional capacities In Qatar, GIB was one of
fifteen lead managers for a US$700 milhion 14-year
facihty to support the Gulf’s first natural gas to hqud
fuel plant being built by Oryx GTL, a joint venture of
Qatar Petroleum and Sasol of South Africa, one of the
ongmal poneers of the technology Other project
financings eather signed or substantially completed m
2003 covered petrochemical developments in Saudi
Arabia, an o1l refinery project tn Oman and water-

cooling plants i the UAE

INVESTMENT BANKING

GIB began 2003 by completng its major advisory rele
in the part-privatisation of the Sanud: Telecom
Company (STC) In early January, the public offer of

a 30 per cent share m STC closed, the 1ssue was over-




MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

subseribed by 3 5 times, and m subsequent trading,
shares 1n STC rose from a flotation price of SR170 per
share to an average range of SR385-400 for the year
The benefits of the STC 1ssue, the first Imtial Public
Offering (IPQ) 1n Saud: Arabia since 1984, extended
beyond the sale itself, strengthening key technical and
trading attributes of the Saudi stock market and
contributing posttively to the overalt performance of
share prices duning 2003 Acting as exclusive financial
adviser to the Public Investment Fund, the Saud:
government wnvestment vehicle responsible for selling
the STC stake, GIB had assumed a wide-ranging role
m assistng the chient m all major strategic and
practical stages of the flotation process The success of
the STC mandate was complemented towards the end
of the year with the pubhic hsting on 16th December
2003 of Janr Marketing Company, the 70th company
to be introduced to the Saudi stock market GIB’s
advisory relationship with Jarir was imtiated in 2000
when the company was converted to a closed joint
stock company through an ongnal private equity
placement of 40 per cent of its shares, and was
followed up 1n 2002 with GIB’s appomtment as
exclusive financial adviser to the 2003 hsting of Janr’s
shares

The strong performance of GCC stock markets
m 2003 was not accompamed by any significant or
immediate overall increase in completed private sector
new 1ssues or mergers and acquisitions, but a cerlain
momentum has been gamed and the prospects for
2004 are goed In Saud: Arabia, the widely heralded
passage of the Caputal Markets Law it 2003 will take
full effect 1 2004 with the publicaton of

implementing detail and the appomntment of Secunties
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and Exchange Commssion (SEC) commussioners
The Law should facilitate the approval of mergers and
acquisitions nvolving listed and unhsted companies
and lead to an increase 1 general corporate activity
GIB's own mvestment banking work dunng the past
year suggests that a sigmficant number of ground-
breaking new transactions are ready to come to
market, including the public lisung of previously
privately held farly compames and, eventually, the
1ssue of corporate bonds to be traded on the Saud
exchange Demonstrable public appetite for both
privatisation and private sector new 1ssues, and the
reassurance given to governments that local and
regional mstituttons can handle and benefit from
them, indicates a hikelthood of increasing activity in
this area across all GCC stock exchanges over the next
few years

Qutside of the stock markets, GIB actively
pursued project finance advisory mandates (including
both debt and equity placements) from major
industnal concerns in the GCC In Saudi Arabia GIB
was mandated by the National Polypropylene
Company (NPPC) to raise SR2 illion of equity and
loans 1o support a new grass-roots venture With the
equity raising component essentially complete, 1t 15
expected that both the equity and debt transactions
will now be finalised 1n 2004 GIB also completed an
advisory mandate on the commercial debt financing
of a new methanol plant for the Saudi-Japanese joint
venture International Methanol Company Limited, a
US$180 million 12-year loan was successfully
signed up through a club deal in October 2003
Raising both debt and equity for Saundi

petrochemical projects involving private Saudi




sponsors remamns challenging, and GIB’s
achievements 1n these transactions are therefore
regarded with considerable satisfaction

In GCC markets other than Saud) Arabia,
progress continues to be made n establishing GIB’s
investment  banking and advisory franchise
Mandates won included a project finance debt
advisory assignment for a major chent i Oman and
an equity and debt raising mandate for a UAE
manufacturing company A significant number of
other proposals have also been requested from
clients it Oman, the UAE, Qatar and Bahrain, and

these will be actively pursued 1 2004

FINANCIAL MARKETS AND ASSET
MANAGEMENT

The recovery of world equity markets 1n 2003 and
improvements 1n corporate debt pricing and quality
provided an altogether more accommodating
environment for GIB’s financial markets and asset
management activities from that prevatling in the
previous three years Valuations of discretionary
porifolios and the wmvestment and hedge funds
managed by GIB’s UK investment banking
subsidiary registered good advances, in most cases
out-performing established benchmarks Assets
under management rose by US$5 0 bilhion or 78 8
per cent o USS11 3 bullion, with advantages and
gamns continuing to be denived from GIB’s unique
franchise as the only Gulf institution with an in-
house global asset management capability Fmaneial
markets trading in 2003 enjoyed sigmificant
increases in profits, reflecting both more favourable

market conditions as well as the successful
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application of a diverse array of rnigorously
developed trading strategies

In the hikely scenano of a continued global
uptum in 2004, the potential for incremental gains 1n
business and further leveraging of existing
capacities 1s positive The profile of GIB’s asset
management products has been systematically
raised among Gulf investors over the last two years
through an attentive, responsive and well illustrated
marketing campaign that murrors the type of quality
customer service that GIB has become known for
providing to existing chents

During 2003 GIB’s UK-based investment
teams were consolidated so as to enhance the quality
and skills available to the asset management process
as applied equally te chient discretionary portfolios,
funds, structured products and propnetary capital The
mvestment and trading team now comprises 30
professionals, providing global coverage of
international markets m equities and convertibles,
corporate debt including high yield, asset backed
securities  (ABS), pgovernment debt ncluding
emerging markets, nterest rates, currencies and
related denvatives The imvestment strategies are also
diverse and include mvestment for Libor-plus returns,
enhancing mndex returns, long-short tradmg, market
neutral strategies and quantifative trading strategies
The consolidation of the mvestment teams has
allowed GIB to pursue 1ts strategy of leveraging tts
proprietary skills into client products and services

A pnme example of this strategy has been the
recent growth of GIB's structured products business
on the basis of trading expenence gained over many

years as a principal m the relevant financial markets




MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued
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Following on from a first 1ssue 1 June 2002, the
raising 1 July 2003 of a second 300 mmlhon
collateralised debt obligation (CDO) saw GIB confim
its status as the leading manager of Euro-denoimnated
mezzanine asset-backed securiies n the wholesale
market The various classes of notes 1ssued by the two
special purpose entities — FAB CBO 2002-1 BV and
FAB CBQ 2003-1 BV — are separately rated by
international credit rating agencies Success in raisimng
institutional funds through its CDOs depended
significantly on GIB’s acknowledged specialisation in
relanve value fixed-income investment strategies The
CDQs, which have been placed predomunantly with
European financial mstitutions, provide GIB with a
further diversified source of management fees

Additional structured products are planned for 20064

TREASURY
GIB’s Treasury business group is responsible for
the funding activities of the GIB Greup and the
capital market investment activities of the parent
bank Over the vears, 1t has successfully
established GIB’s name in international and
regional money markets and established 1ts own
reputation as a reliable and professional business
partner With 1ts speciahst skills and global reach,
GIB’s Treasury continued duning 2003 to cater to
the diverse financial needs of a broad client base of
regional corporates, financial mstitutions and
government entrties

A key feature of Treasury’s investment
activities 1n recent years has been the gradual
growth of a large portfolio of mvestment grade-

rated floating rate secunties that now consutute

GIB’s principal asset class The secuntties porifolio
15 hughly hquid and generates an exceptionally
stable 1ncome stream, besides providing
considerable diversification of nsk  Strict
mvestment critena are used 1 the selection of these
assets to nunuimise credit risk The portfolio made a
substantial contribution to the bank’s interest
mcome for the year

In order to achieve an efficient asset mix
with adequate diversification, Treasury also makes
selective investments in speciahised markets and
asset classes through external fund managers
Several of those funds turned n exceptionally
strong performances 1n 2003, particularly n foreign
exchange and emerging market debt

During 2003, GIB completed additional
term financing arrangements 1n hine with the bank’s
strategic objective of lengthening the matunity of its
funding Total sentor and subordinated term
habilities increased from US31 bilhon to US$! 7
tillion The recent international credit rating
upgrades, responding partly to GIB’s success 1in 1ts
term financing programme, have provided Treasury
with the opportunty to further tap other sources of
competitively priced longer term funds in the near
future The continuation of GIB’s listorically stable
trend of customers deposit retention further
strengthens the bank’s hquidity profile

GCC capital markets witnessed some very
successful sovereign bond 1ssues in 2003 GIB
actively participated in these issues, thereby clearly
demonstrating 1ts strategic commitment to the
region and renterating its dominant position in the

Gulf’s banking mdustry
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Owing to the prevailing low levels of interest
rates and volatile exchange rate movements during
2003, there was healthy customer demand for
derivatives to hedge their interest rate and currency

risks This trend 15 expected to continue 1nto 2004

SUPPORT FUNCTIONS
Secunity of operations ranked high among the
prionities of semor suppert management and projects
throughout 2003 The Group’s business recovery
procedures were worked upon and fully tested and
tried n the early months of the year There 1s
complete two-way back up of Bahrain and Londen’s
central banking systems daily, as well as off-site
reinforcement A new document scanning and record
retrieval system was introduced to add to existing
back-up capacities and, more generally, 10 increase
options and efficiency 1n the area of document access
and storage Firewall protection of GIB’s systems
was strengthened and an independent contractor
hired to test the systems’ security and integrity on a
regular basis

GIB’s anti-money laundering procedures
were further developed in line with international
standards, exiensive staff tramung on money
laundering 1ssues was applied at all levels, and two
software programmes installed to help identify
potentially suspicious transactions GIB’s anti-
money laundenng policy has been approved by the
Board of Directors and all relevant regulatory
authorities have accepted current procedures as
meeting ther requirements

As well as this strengthening of practical

nisk-mitigation measures, an overall framework for
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managing operational risk was also formulated 1n
2003 as part of a further support area prionty
imihiative readying GIB to meet fully the likely
requirements of the new Capital Accord (Basel 1)
1ssued by the Basel Commuttee on Banking
Supervision and scheduled for mmplementation by
end-2006 Other pro-active responses to Basel IT
challenges are described 1n the Rask Management
Review section of this Annual Report

GIB continues to pursue maximum efficiency
and client responsiveness in all 1ts operations,
introducing new or upgraded banking sofiware
applications on a regular programmed basis and
modifying orgamsational configurattons to maintain
standards of service During 2003, GIB successfully
mnstalled new modules of its core banking system as
well as independent new programmes to assist in
Treasury dealing, trade finance and the morutoring
and control of global credit exposures on a real-time
basis In response to the prospect of continuing
increases in GIB’s capital markets activity, the
product processing areas were re-organised

In the area of human resources, there are
ongoing mmtiatives 1o ensure that compensation,
benefits and career development opportumties are
kept in line with market and administered in an
equitable and transparent manner Greater
accountability for traiming budgets has been
transferred to line managers to try fo ensure more
strategic and efficient use of this resource GIB
encourages all staff to seek to acquire and
maintain  professional quahfications and
memberships of professional associations, and

assists matenally in this area
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
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CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME AFTER TAX
at US$106 1 rmilhon for the year was US$20 8 rmllion or
24 4 per cent up on the pnor year This represented a
retum on average sharcholder’s equity of 84 per cent
which compared favourably agamst prevailing
investment benchmarks Sigmficant improvements and
advances were recorded by the Group’s key business
activities enabling GIB to record 1ts second highest ever
result The significant year-on-year increase in the
Group’s profit was due to substantially higher non-interest
earnings and a lower level of provisions 2003 net ncome
was net of a US$55 2 mullion provision charge for credit
losses compared to an US$82 7 mullion charge in 2002 A
decrease in net mnterest ncome resulting from the lower
inferest rate environment prevailing during the year was
more than offset by a US$31 9 rmlkon or 36 1 per cent
increase 1 non-interest earmngs This increase was
largely attnbutable to strong trading revenues although
also partly reflected the bank’s strategic emphasis on
merchant banking activities wath investment bankmng and
management fees nsing by 10 6 per cent over the previous
year Operating expenses were 9 1 per cent up on the prior
year The year-on-year mncrease i expenses was recorded
almost entirely in staff’ expenses This was largely
atributable o ugher performance-related remuneration in
line with the stgrficantly stronger trading performance
although was also partly due to the negatve impact of the
weaker US Dollar on foreign currency denomimnated
expenses Despite this adverse development, premuses and
other operating expenses were nevertheless mawmntamed at
much the same level as the prior year as a result of ongomg
cost contamnment measures As referred to inthe section on
operating expenses, GIB’s profit per employee and cost to

mncome ratios continue to be extremely efficient
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NET INTEREST INCOME
Net nterest income at US$167 3 mullion was US$28 4
million or 14 5 per cent lower than the pnor year Net
mterest income 15 principally dertved from four sources
earnings on the investment of the Group’s net free capital,
margm income on the cormmercial lending as well as the
available-for-sale secunities portfolios, and earmings from
the Group’s money book activines Money book earnings
represent the differential between the funding cost of
interest-bearing assets based on mnternal transfer pncing
methodologies and the actual funding cost mcurred by the
Bank This ncludes benefits derved from the mismatch
of the repncing profile of the Group’s mnterest-beanng
assets and habthines Net 1nterest income 18 also reported
net of the funding cost of non-interest bearing investments
from which mecome 15 denved 1n the form of dividends
and capital gams, and reported 1n the relevant category mn
other income

Interest rates dechned to extremely low absolute
levels 1n most developed econormnies 1n 2003 The lower
interest tate environment 1mpacted the Group’s net
interest earnings in three specific respects The Group’s
net free capital 1s partly nvested in fixed rate
mstruments 1n order to lock-in a fixed retun over the
medium term  Interest earnings on the net free capital
were lower m 2003 as a result of the maturity and sale of
anumber of mvestments Investments were sold in order
to reduce the duration of the portfolio in anticipation of
a higher interest rate environment 1n the medium term
This realhignment nevertheless resulted 1n a lower overall
yield 1 2003 In addition, while the Group’s money
book activity generated strong nterest earnings in 2003,
they were nevertheless almost one third lower than

2002 Short mterest rate musmaich positions were
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

maintained thronghout much of the year The money
book accordingly benefitted from the lower level of
interest rates prevailling dunng the year However,
interest rates dechned by a far lesser extent 1n 2003 than
tn 2002 As illustrated 1n note 24 to the consohdated
financial statements, the Group had a long mterest rate
msmatch position at the end of 2003 As such, it was
positioned to benefit from a nsing interest rate
environment moving inte 2004 These negative factors
were, however, partly offset by a lower funding cost n
respect of non-interest bearing investments as a result of
the lower interest rate environment

The overall negative 1mpact of the lower nterest
rate environment on interest eamings was partly
compensated by a year-on-year mcrease 1n net mterest
carnmgs from the available-for-sale (AFS) secuntics
portfolio Thus resulted from a $450 6 mullion or 5 7 per cent
ncrease n the average volume of AFS secuniiies duning the
vear as 15 evident in the average consohdated balance sheet
as set out m note 33 to the consohdated financial statements
The high credit quality of the AFS secuntes portfolio
contmued 1o be emphastsed with 97 2 per cent of AFS debt
secunifies at the 2003 year end being investment grade-rated.
Net interest earmings dertved from the Group’s commercial
lending portfolio were also higher m 2003 Loan margin
mneome was 12 per cent up on the previous year In hne with
the Group’s strategic focus on the GCC, there was a further
decrease i the volurne of intemational loans dunng 2003
contnbuting to a decrease 1 the associated loan margm
moome This was, however, more than offset by a 24 per
cent mcrease 1 interest earmngs from the Group's core
GCC commercial Joan portfoho This was attnbutable to an
merease m average loan volumes with margins bemng
marginally hugher than in 2002
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Gross income development (Us$ nullions)
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Ot incoims: 774 12732 703 884 1203

Grox income

beforeprovimons 2170 2970 2637 2841 2876

OTHER INCOME
Other meome at US$1203 mulhon for the year was
US531 9 nmllion or 36 1 per cent up on the prior year level
An analysis of other income with prior year comparatives 15
set oul m note 18 to the consohidated financial statements

The sigmficant year-on-year increase in other
meome was principally attmbutable to strong trading
revenues and further growth in investment banking-related
fee income The Group’s vanows trading activities
recorded a US$50 8 million profit for the year compared to
a US314 muihon profit n 2002 Profits were generated
across all trading activities This mcluded trading n equty,
corporate debt, foreign exchange, fixed income, denvative
and emerging debt markets Trading profits benefited m
particular from strong advances in the equity and emerging
debt markets, and the significant weakenung in the US
Dollar The profits also reflected the benefit denved from a
wade range of rading strategies, meluding relative value,
arbitrage and non-directional strategres

Dividend income of US$23 7 mullion was
US$7 8 mulhion lower than in 2002 Dividend mncome
was received from investments m leveraged finance

transactions and from extemally managed funds The




funding cost of these mvestments 15 reported 1 net interest
imcome The year-on-year decrease in dividend income
reflected the impact of the lower interest rate environment
on the sncome from the underlying investments wathin the
leveraged finance vehicles The underlying investments of
these vehicles are principally high quality, mvestment
grade-rated floahng rate debt secunties

Investment banking and management fees at
USS188 mullion were a sigmificant, and increasing,
contributor to non-interest eamuings This mcome category
compnses fees generated by the Group’s asset
management, fund management, corporate advisory and
underwnting activities These fees were US$ 1t 8 mullion or
10 6 per cent up on the prior year, following a45 3 per cent
mcrease 1n 2002 The year-on-year increase principally
reflected higher asset and fund management fees, and
underwnting fees The increase 1n asset and fund
management fees was attributable to a higher volume of
funds under management and also to a higher level of
performance fees in 2003 As referred to in note 29 to the
consohdated financial statements, assets held 1n a fiduciary
capacity increased by USS50 bilhon or 78 8 per cent
duning the year to US$11 3 billion at 315! December 2003

Profits on available-for-sale secunties amounted
to US$15 6 mullion for the year This largely compnised
profits ansing as a result of the active management of the
nvestment of the Group’s net free capital i fixed rate
securitics The profits arose on the restructuning of the
fixed rate secunties portfolio i anticipation of a nse
interest rates m the medium tetin

Commmssions on letiers of credit and guarantee at
US38 9 mulhion were US$1 3 mullion or 17 1 per cent up
on the prior year and therefore continued to make an

important contnbution to non-nterest mcome The
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significant year-on-year advance was attnbutable to an
increase . guarantee commissions on GCC-related
business actrvities and a tugher level of letter of credunt
business generated by the Group's overseas offices Other
fee and sundry mcome pnncipally compnsed loan

commitment and Islamuc finance arrangement fees

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses at US$126 1 mithon were US$105
mullion or 9 1 per cent up on the prior year The year-on-
year increase was rccorded almost entirely in staff
expenses Despite the year-on-year mcrease in expenses,
GIB continues to mamtam one of the lghest profit per
employee rattos for any bank i the world in addition 1o
an extremely low cost 1o icome rano According to a
survey of the top 1,000 banks m the world published by
The Banker magazing n July 2003, GIB’s profit per
employee 1t 2002 was the lughest among the top 1,000
banks ranked by Tier 1 capital In addinon, the cost to
mcome ratio of 40 1 per cent i 2002 was sigmficantly
lower than the average ratio for each geographic region,
mncluding the US A (58 2 per cent), Europe (706 per
cent) and Japan (87 4 per cent) In 2003, the Group’s cost
to income ratio was 43 8 per cent, an extremely efficient
ratio by international companson

Staff expenses were US$9 9 mathon or 13 5 per
cent up on the pnor year This was atinbutable to gher
performance-related remuneration as a result of the
significantly stronger trading performance and the
ncrease in mvestment banking revenues, a higher pension
expense n relation to the Group’s defined benefit pension
plan as set out in note 10 to the consohdated financal
statements, and higher release expenses associated with a

further reduction it the Group’s headcount 2003
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expenses were also negatively impacted by the weaker
US Dollar prevailing duning the year This resulted in an
increase 1n the US$ equivalent of the foreign currency
denommated expenses of the Group’s overseas offices
While the foreign currency denomunated expenses were
hedged against the US Dollar, they were hedged at a less
favourable rate than m the previous year Despue this
adverse development, prermses and other operating
expenses were both successfully contaned at much the
same level as in the previous year as a result of ongoing

cost control measures

CAPITAL STRENGTH
Shareholders’ equity amounted to US$1,388 8 rmllion at
315! December 2003 At the 2003 year end the ratios of
shareholders’ equity and Tier 1 capital to total assels werc
8 0 per cent and 7 7 per cent respectively, ratios that are
high by intemational companson The average Tier |
caputal to total assets ratio of the top 1,000 world banks
was 4 5 per cent according 1o a survey published in The
Banker magazine wn July 2003

A US$2606 millon merease in shareholders’
equity dunng 2003 comprised the net of the USS106 1
milhion profit for the year, a US$42 7 milhon dividend pad

BIS risk asset ratio (%)

16

12

8

4

0

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
12 2a T Dl 2B e Ul o Bo 2 bt

< Page 20 <4

mn respect of 2002, and a US$197.2 mullion net increase m
the faur value of available-for-sale secunties and denvative
cash flow hedges In accordance wath IAS 39, changes in the
faur values of avalable-for-sale securihies and denvative cash
flow hedges are accounted for mn shareholders” equity

With a total regulatory caputal base of US$1,657 6
mullion and totad nsk-werghted exposure of US$13,294 5
mmllion, the nsk asset rauo calculated 1 accordance with
the gudelines of the Basel Comnuttee on Banking
Supervision was 125 per cent In accordance with
mtematonal regulatory guidehnes, the far value
adpstments to equity arsing under 1AS 39 i relator: to
available-for-sale secunties and derivative cash flow hedges
are excluded from the regulatory capital basc, with the
exception of unrealised gams and losses on equity
mvestments As a result, at the 2003 year end net fair value
gams of US$47 4 mulhon were deducted from sharcholders’
equity to derive the regulatory capital base for capital
adequacy purposes The Bank’s regulatory capital base was
enhanced by two 10 year subordinated loan faciliies
amounting m total to US$$1500 nullion The subordinated
loans have been approved for nclusion n Tier 2 capital for
capital adequacy purposes by the Bank’s regulator, the
Bahrain Monetary Agency (BMA) The nsk assel ralo
mcorporates market risk-weighted exposure Exposure to
general market nsk 15 calculated utilising a Value-at-Risk
model n accordance with the provisions of the
Amendment to the Captal Accord to Incorporate Market
Rusk. The use of the mternal model approach for the
calculanon of the capital requirenent for general market
nsk has been approved by the BMA The high proportion
of shareholders' equity within the total capital base resulted
in a Tier 1 mto of 100 per cent Note 28 to the

consolidated financial statements provides further details




on capial adequacy The nsk asset rato calculated
accordance with the guidelines of the Bank’s regulatory
authonty, the BMA, was 14 2 per cent at the 2003 year
end Under the BMA guidelines, GCC governments and
government-owned enuties are accorded the same
preferential nsk weighting as for OECD govemments
The BMA applies a minimum nisk asset ratio of 12 per
cent compared to a mimmum of 8 per cent prescnbed by
the Basel Commntlee

Factors which conirnibute to the Group's
favourable capial adequacy posttion are the strong
capital base, the level of non-specific provisions and
significant exposure to major OECD country

governments and to the banking sector

ASSET QUALITY

The geographical diversification of nsk assets 1s set out in
note 22 1o the consohdated financial statements Further
assessment of asset quality can be facihtated by reference
to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on the
faur value of financial nstruments Based on the valuation

methodologres set out in that note, the net fair values of all

Asset mix by category (%)
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on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments exceeded
their net book values at 3151 December 2003 by US$23 5
mullion All non-trading securities are classified as
available-for-sale and measured at farr value Available-
for-sale secunties are accordingly stated at fair value in the
consolidated balance sheet

Al the 2003 year end, available-for-sale secunties
accounted for 48 8 per cent of total assets while loans and

advances represented 21 7 per cent

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES
Avalable-for-sale (AFS) secunties totalled US$8,451 8
mullion at 315! December 2003 The available-for-sale
securittes portfolio represents not only a substantial and
effective lLiquudity reserve but also an effective
mtemational geographical diversification of the Group's
nisk assets with 81 6 per cent of the portfohio compnsing
secunties of North Amencan and European 1ssuers The
remaining balance largely comprises secunties 1ssued by
GCC country govemments

AFS securities pnncipally compnse two types of
debt secunty portfolios and a more himsted investment n
equittes and equity funds The larger debt secunty portfolhio
compnses floating rate secuntes or fixed rate secunties
that have been swapped to yield constant spreads over
LIBOR. These accounted for 86 5 per cent of the total AFS
securites portfolio at the 2003 year end. The smatler debt
secunty portfolio compnses fixed mcome secunites This
portfolio amounted to US$601 3 mullon at the end of
2003 Ths largely compnised GCC country government
bonds with onginal matunties of up to two years

An analysis of the AFS secuntes portfolio by
ratng category 15 Sét out i note 6(a) to the consolrdated
financial statements, US$1,722 4 milhion or 21 7 per cent of
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Available-for-sale securities rating profile

US$ millions %
AAA/Aaa raled debt saturilies 17224 204
Debt socurtes of ober rvetment gradossuers 59730 706
Onher debt securities 2185 26
Equities and equity lunds 5379 64
Total B4518 1000

the AFS debt secunties at the 2003 year end represented
AAA/Aaa rated securites Based on the rating of the 1ssuer,
a further US$5,973 0 rmullon or 75 5 per cent of the AFS
debt secunties represented other investment grade-rated
securities Thus 97.2 per cent of the total debt secunties
compnsed mvestment grade-rated secunties Other debt
secunities, the ssuers of which are rated below BBB-/Baa3
or are unrated, amounted to US$218 5 mullion at the end of
2003, thus compnsmg only 26 per cent of the total AFS
secunities portfolio In view of the listoncally high
corporate default rates witnessed n the past three years,
the Group has actively reduced the volume of securiies
rated below investment grade As a result, other debt
securities decreased by US$446 3 mulhion, or two thirds,
duning 2003 The credit nsk associated with these
secuniies 1s ngorously morutored within the overall
credit risk management process The secunties are
therefore subject to the same stnngent credit
requirements as standard lending and credit-related
contingent transactions Equities and equity funds at
315! December 2003 amounted to US$537 9 nullion
The equities and equity funds portfolio 15 prnincipally
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mvested mn the equity tranches of leveraged finance
entities and, to a very lmted extent, n a number of
externally managed fund-type investments which
provide a diversified exposure 1o private equity and real
estate markets The underlying mvestments of the
leveraged finance entiies principally compnise high
quahty, mvestment grade-rated floating rate debt
securities The wnvestments generate an attracuive and
stable margin over LIBOR by means of the leveraged

charactenistics of the investment vehicles

LOANS AND ADVANCES
Loans and advances amounted to US$3,759 6 miihon at
the 2003 year end. This represented a US5503 8 mulhon
or 15 5 per cent mcrease compared to the 2002 year end
The increase reflected further growth m the GCC loan
portfolio and, n particular, a number of new project
finance-reltated facilines wathin the region, in hne with the
Group's sirategre emphasis on relationship banking 1n the
GCC 782 per cent, or over three quarters, of the loan
portfolio at the 2003 year end represented lending within
GIB’s core market in the GCC states The geographical
diversificaion of the Group’s overatl credit risk 1s
achieved through the intemational secunties markets
rather than through participation n nternational
syndicated leniding transactions

Based on contractual matunhies at the balanoe sheet
date, 47 0 per cent of the loan portfoho was due to mature
within one year while 70 5 per cent was due to mature
within three years Details of exposure within the loan
portfolio to GCC and OECD country govemnments are
contained nt note 7 to the consolidated financial statements
whle the geographical distribution of loans and advances

15 set out 1 note 22 The portfolio contained no sigmficant




concentrations by industnal sector As discussed in note
30, the net fair value of loans and advances exceeded
thetr net book value by US$23 5 mulhon

Total loan loss provisions at 315! December 2003
amounted to US$721 5 nulhon Country and counterparty
specific provisions amounted to US$539 | nullion while
nen-specific provisions were US$182 4 millton Specific
provisions at the 2003 year end represented 89 1 per cent
of loans against which a specific proviston had been
made Specific provision utithsations dunng 2003 totalled
US$54 8 million The utilisations arose on the sale or
setllement of the related loans and, to a more hited
exient, on the wnte off of a2 number of histonically long
overdue loans for which the possibility of collection was
considered remote While loans were sold or settled at less
than nominal value, the proceeds exceeded the
provisioned net book values mn all cases The loan wnite
offs took place withn the Group’s ongoing sirategic
programme to reduce exposure to non-relanonship
intemational loans The written off loans were all fully
provisioned. The provision charge for loans and advances
was US$4 4 million for the year Thrs compnsed the net
of a US$12 4 milhon provision charge for specific loan
provistons and an US$8 0 nullion release of non-specific
loan provisions The release arose 1n the Bank’s principal
subsidiary, Gulf Intemational Bank (UK) Limnted,
following the matunty of almost all of 1ts remairung loans
dunng 2003 As a result, it was no longer necessary for the
subsiciary 1o conttnue to mamntamn non-specific loan
provisions Specific provistons are maintamed i the
currencies of the related exposures The weakening i the
US Dollar dunng the year resulted i a US$20 7 million
merease n the US$ equivalent of specific loan provisions

maintained m foreign currencies This increase was,
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Loan maturity profile

USS millions %
Year 1 1,766 7 470
Years 28 3 8816 235
Years 4 & 5 6515 173
Ower 5 years 4598 122
Tanal 37596 000

however, offset by an equivalent increase m the related
loan exposures The non-specific proviston at the year end
represented 4 7 per cent of loans which had not been
specifically provided aganst

Specific provisions are determined based on
the recoverable amount of the foan The recoverable
amount 15 measured as the present value of the
expected future cash flows discounted based on the
interest tate at the inception of the facihity Non-
spectfic provisions are determined based on the
applicable credit ratings and associated historical
default probabihities, loss severty and rating
migranions, and reflect the current macroeconomic,
political and business environment and other
perttnent indicators Loans are written off only after
all reasonable restructuning and collection activities
have taken place and the possibility of further
recovery 1s considered to be remote

The gross and net book values of past due loans
amounted to US$562 4 mithien and US$42 9 million
respectively The provisioning coverage for past due

loans was therefore 92 4 per cent Past due loans are




defined as those loans for which enher principal or

interest 1s over 90 days past due Under 1AS 39,
interest on impawed loans should be recogmised n
income based on the interest rate that was used fo
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the recoverable amount However,
accordance with gumdehnes issued by the Bank’s
regulator, the BMA, interest on past due loans 15 only
to be recogmsed 1n income on a cash basis In view
of the Group's high provisioning coverage for
mmparred loans, the difference between the two bases
of accounting 1s not material An ageing analysis of
past due loans 1s set out wn note 7(c) to the
consohdated financial statements US$454 9 nullion
or 80 9 per cent of gross past due loans were overdue
by more than five years and are therefore histonical
in nature These are all fully provided against Only
US$33 9 muthon of past due loans at 315! December
2003 had become past due during the preceding
twelve months The gross volume of past duc loans
also continued 10 be substantially less than total
provisions Total provisions for loan losses exceeded
the gross volume of past due loans by US$159 1
million This means that rather than earnings being

impaired by the funding cost of the net book value of
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past due loans, there 15 a positive earnings
enhancement Past due loans at their net book value of
1S$42 9 muilion represented just 11 per cent of net
loans Past due loans at their net book value also

represented only 3 1 per cent of shareholders’ equity

OTHER ASSET CATEGORIES
Cash and other hqud assets, which amounted to
US$215 0 mullien at the 2003 year end, arc analysed n
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements In
addition to cash and balances with banks, other liquid
assets mcluded certificates of deposit and Treasury bulls
held for balance sheet management purposes

Placements with banks totalled US$3,023 1
mllion at the 2003 year end and were well diversified by
geography as illustrated in note 22 to the consalidated
financial statements Interbank placements were largely
with GCC and European bank counterparties,
representing the Group’s two prnncipal operating
locatons Placements with banks represented 17 5 per
cent of total assets at the 2003 year end coninbuung to a
very strong liquid assets ratto of 76 7 per cent

Trading secunies at US31,583 6 mulhon
largely compnised listed debt secunties amounting {o
US$1,168 0 millron Trading secunties also included
US$1596 mulhion of managed funds The funds,
which are managed by international nstitutions with
acknowledged expertise 1n thewr field, provide
diversified exposure to foreign exchange, hedge funds

and nternational debt markets

RISK ASSET AND COMMITMENT EXPOSURE
Rusk asset and commuiment exposure at 315! December

2003 amounted 10 US$19,127 4 million Rusk assets




Risk asset and commitment exposure

US$ milions %
GCC 6,515 9 341
COxher Middie East & North Afica 655 4 34
North America 53039 306
Europe 58639 217
Asia 7385 38
Latin America 498 03
Total 19,127 4 100 0

and commitments compnse all assets included in the
balance sheet (with the exception of fixed and other
assets) and credit-related contingent items As afluded
to earlier, an analysis of nisk asset and commmtment
exposure by category and geography 1s contained in
note 22 to the consohdated financral statements An
analysis of denvative and foreign exchange products i1s
set out 1 note 25 while a further analysis of credu-
related contingent items together with their nisk-
weighted equivalents s contained 1n note 26
FUNDING

Bank and customer deposits at 315! December 2003
totalled US$10,340 1 milhion Customer deposits
amounted to US$4,910 2 muilion at the 2003 year end
being margmally lower than at the previous year end
Customer deposits represented 47 5 per cent of iotal
deposis compared to 46 9 per cent at the end 0of 2002 A
US$312 1 million decrease n bank deposits compared
to the 2002 year end reflected a reduced requarement for
interbank funding as a result of a further mcrease 1n term

financing during the year Funding was also enhanced
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by an increase 1n secunties sold under agreements to
repurchase (repos) Repos mcreased by US3429 8
million dunng the year to US$3,006 5 mullion at
315! December 2003 The increase in the volume of
AFS secunites facilitated the Group’s ability 1o fund
through this mechanism Repos represent a more stable
and cost effecive source of funding, thereby enhancing
both hquidity management and profitability As 1s
evident from note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, total deposiis averaged US$10,401 6 million
dunng 2003 Total deposits at the year end were
therefore represcntative of the level of deposits
maintained throughout the year As lfustrated 1 note 11

to the consohdated financial statements, 67 1 per cent or
over two thirds of total deposits were from the GCC

GIB 15 a net placer of funds in the intemational iterbank
market Term financing at 315t December 2003 totatled
US$1,501 3 mullion Term financing was further
enhanced dunng the year by a US$500 mlhion 5 year
repo transaction An addiional US$121 3 million of
term financing was also rmsed dunng the year as part of
an ongoing programme to enhance the Group's funding
profile Further commentary on liquadity and funding 15

provided in the Risk Management Review section

Deposits - geographical profile

LiS$ mihons %
GCC countries 69403 671
Other courstries 33998 329
Total 103401 1000
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW
VAN =gl

THE GIB GROQUP MAINTAINS A PRUDENT
and disciplined approach to nsk taking by upholding a
comprehensive set of nsk management policies,
processes and limts, employing professicnally qualified
people with the appropnate skills, investing m
technology and tranng, and actively promoting a
culture of sound nsk management at all levels A key
tenet of this culture 15 the clear segregation of duties and
reporting lines between personnel transacting business
and personne] processing that business The Group’s nisk
management 15 underpinned by s ability to denufy,
measure, aggregate and manage the different types of
nisks 1t faces

The Board of Directors has created from among
1ts members a Board Risk Policy Commutiee to review the
Group’s nsk taking activittes and report to the Board in
this regard The Board sets the overali nsk parameters and
tolerances within which the Group conducts 1ts actiaties
The Board periodically reviews the Group's overall nsk
profile and sigruficant nsk exposures as well as the
Group’s major nsk policies, processes and controls

The Management Commuttee, chatred by the
Chief Executive Officer, has the pnmary responsibility
for sanctioning nisk taking policies and activities within
the tolerances defined by the Board The Group Rusk
Commuttee assists the Management Commmttee to
perform 1is nsk related functions The Group Risk
Commuttee, compnsing the bank’s most semor risk
professionals, provides a forum for the review and
approval of new products, nsk measurement
methodologies and nsk control processes The
Commuttee also reviews all nsk policies and limuts that
requure approval by the Management Committee

From a control perspective, the process of risk
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management 1s facihitated through a set of independent
finctions, which report direetly to seior management
These functions include Risk Management, Credit Risk
Control, Market Rusk Control, Financial Controls and
Intemal Audn This mulu-faceted approach aids the
effecuve management of risk by identifying, measunng
and momitormg nsks from a vanety of perspectives
Risks associated with off-balance sheet derivative
mstruments are managed within the overall nisk
management framework

The major risks associated with the Group’s
business are credit, market, liguidity and operational
risks These risks and the related nsk management
processes are commented on i note 2! to the
consolidated financial statements and are discussed

m detail in the following sections

CREDIT RISK
Cred:t nisk 1s the nsk that a customer, counterparty or
an 1ssuer of secunties or other financial mstruments
fails to perform under its contractual payment
obhgations thus causing the Group to suffer a loss
terms of cash flow or market value Credit risk 1s the
predominant nsk type faced by the Group in s
barking, nvestment and treasury activities both on and
off balance sheet Where appropnate the Group seeks
to mmumize its crednt exposure using a vanety of
techmques including but not lmited to the following
= entering netting agreements with counterparties
that permit offsetting of receivables and payables
+ obtaiming collateral agamnst the Group’s exposure
= seeking third party guarantees of the
counterparty’s obligations

* 1mposing restrictions and covenants on borrowers




Ll VWO L )

Credit risk 1s actively managed and
ngorously monitored m accordance with well-
defined credit pohicies and procedures Prior to the
approval of a credit proposal, a detailed credit nsk
assessment 15 carried out which mcludes an analysis
of the obligor’s financial condition, market position,
business environment and quality of management
The nisk assessment generates an internal credit nsk
raung for each exposure, which affects the credit
approval decision and the terms and conditions of the
transaction For cross border transactions an analysis
of country nisk 15 also conducted The Group bases
1ts credit decision for an individual counterparty on
the aggregate Group exposure to that counterparty
and all its related entities Groupwide credit limut
setting and approval authonisation requirements have
been rationalised within Board approved guidehines
and a2 new software package, which facilitates
improved monutering and control of credit
exposures, was implemented during 2003

Overall exposures are evalualed to ensure
broad diversification of credit risk Potennal
concentration risks by product, industry, single
obligor, credit sk rating and geography are regularly
assessed with a view lo improving overall portfolio
diversification Established liumts and actual levels of
exposure are regularly reviewed by the Chief Crednl
Officers and other members of semor management [n
general, all credtt decisions are reviewed at least once
a year Credit policies and procedures are designed to
identify, at an early stage, exposures which require
more detailed monttonng and review

The credit risk associated with foreign

exchange and denvalive tnstruments 15 assessed 0 a

RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued
) N VNI TA]
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Credit risk rating profile
as al 315 December 2003

US$ milons %
AAA/Aas 21354 112
AA/As 36564 191
A/A 50184 262
BBB/Baa 5,808 6 288
BB/Ba 19330 101
B/B 616 5 32
below B/B 2581 14
Total 19127 4 1000

manner similar 1o that associated with on-balance sheet
activities The Group utilises derivative transactions for
proprietary trading, to facilitate customer transactions
and for the management of mmterest and foreign
exchange nsks associated wath the Group's longer-term
lending, borrowing and investment activiies Unlike
on-balance sheet products, wherce the pnincipal amount
and mierest generally represent the maximum credit
exposure, the notional amount relating to & foreign
exchange or denvative transaction typically exceeds the
credit exposure by a substanttal margin The measure of
credit exposure for foreign exchange and denvative
wnstruments 15 therefore more appropriately considered
to be the replacement cost at current market rates plus
an add-on amount commensurate with the position’s
size, volatility and remaining hfe

Denvative contracts may also carry legal nsk
such as not having been authonzed, appropnate or
enforceable for a counterparty and documentation not

being properly executed The Group seeks 1o




minimize these nsks by the use of standard contract
agreements and by obtaining the opinion of legal
counsel regarding enforceatility of agreements and
the authonty of a counterparty to transact

The current gross positive market values or
credit sk amounts of foreign exchange and denvative
transactions are set out 1 note 25 to the consohdated
financial statements The total credit risk amount in
respect of all such transactions outstanding at the 2003
year end amounted to US$94 2 mullion before taking
account of the nsk-reducing benefits of any collateral
held or legally enforceable netting agreements The
note highlights that 94 1 per cent of the total credit nsk
was concentrated on major OECD-based banks and
was predomunantly short-term n nature with 77 6 per
cent of notional amounts of the transactions
outstanding at the end of 2003 contracted to mature
within one year Transactions maturmg beyond one
year represented either hedging transactions entered
mto for asset and liability management purposes or

fully offset customer transactions

MARKET RISK

Market nisk 1s the nisk of loss of value of a financial

mstrument or a portfolio of financial instruments as a

resuit of changes in market prices and rates Market nsk

arises from the Group’s trading, asset and hability

management and mvestment aciivities A description of

the categortes of market nsk faced by the Group 1s set

out below

= Interest rate nsk results from exposure to changes 1n
the level, slope, curvature and volatility of mterest
rates and credst spreads The credit spread risk 1s the

risk that the interest yield for a secunty will
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increase, with a reduction n the secunty price,
relauve te benchmark yields as a result of the
general market movements for that rating and class
of secunity Interest rate risk 18 the principal type of
market nsk faced by the Group and anises from the
Group’s mvestment activities in debt securities,
esset and liability management and the trading of
debt and denvative instruments
* Foreign exchange nsk results from exposure to
changes in the price and volatility of currency spot
and forward rates For the Group the principal
foreign exchange nisk arises from its mvestments in
externally managed currency funds and from 1ts
foreign exchange forward and denvatives trading
aciivities
* Equty nsk anses from exposures to changes in the
price and volatility of mdividual equities or equity
mdices The Group’s equity nisk principally anises
from its trading activities m US and European
equities, equity denvatives and converttbles
« Commodity nsk results from exposure to changes
in the price and volatility of commodities The
Group’s commodity risk arises entirely from ats
denvatives trading activities
The Group secks to manage the market
risks 1t faces through diversification of exposures
across dissimilar markets and establishment of
hedges 1n related securnies or off balance sheet
denvative instruments To manage the Group's
exposures in addition to the exercise of business
Judgment and management experience, the Group
utihises himat structures including those relating to
positions, portfolios, matunities and maximum

allowable losses
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued

G

A key element in the Group’s market risk
management framework 15 the estimation of potential
future losses that may anse from adverse market
movements The Group utilises Value-at-Rusk (VaR) to
estimate such losses The VaR 1s denived from quantitative
models that use statistical and simulation methods that
take account of all market rates and prices that may cause
a change m a position’s value These melude nterest rates,
foreign exchange rates and equity prices, their respective
volatilities and the correlations between these vanables
The Group’s VaR 1s calculated on a varance/co-vanance
basis using exponentially weighted one-year historical
datlly movements m market rates and prnices, giving
greater importance to the more recent observations mn
estimating potential future losses The VaR takes account
of potential diversificauon benefits of different positions
both wathin and across different portfobos Consistent
with general market practice, VaR 15 computed for all
financial mstruments for which there are readily available

datly pnices or a suitable proxy

LA

VaR 1s viewed as an effective nsk management
tool and a valuable addition to the non-statisically
based limit structure It permits a consistent and
unifonn measure of market nisk across all applicable
products and activittes Exposures are momtored
against a range of lmus both by nisk category and
portfolio and are regularly reported to and reviewed by
semor management and the Board of Directors

For internal nsk management purposes, the
Group measures losses that are anticipated to occur
within a 95 per cent confidence level This implies that
there 1s on average a 5 per cent or a 1 m 20 chance of a
loss exceeding the VaR over the prescribed time
horizon or holding pertod The Group measures VaR
unilising a one month assumed holding period for both
trading and available-for-sale positions

The graph below sets out the total Value-at-
Rusk for all the Group’s trading activities at the close
of each business day throughout the year The

figures are calculated using the regulatory VaR basis

Trading Value-at-Risk daily development

16

US$ millions

lan Feb March Aprnl  May

June
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at a 1 per cent risk level (2 33 standard deviations)
and at the ten-day honzon using one-year unweighted
historical daily movements m market rates and prices
On this basis, total diversified VaR over the year
averaged UJS$8 0 mallion and varied within the range
of US$4 5 mullion to US$14 6 millon with a 2003
year-end value of US$7 0 mullion

The Group conducts dailly VaR back testing
both for regulatory comphance with the Basel
Commttee on Banking Supervision market nisk
capital rules and for internal evaluanion of VaR agamst
trading profit and losses During 2003, there were no
occastons on which a daily trading loss exceeded the
trading VaR at the close of business on the previous
business day The Basel Commuitee’s gwidelines on
back testing permit a maximum of five excesses
beyond which the muluplication factor determined by
the regulator may be increased

An inherent limtation of VaR 1s that past

market movements may not pr0v1de an accurate

prediction of future market losses Historic analyses
of market movements have shown that exireme
market movements (e g beyond the 99 per cent
confidence level) occur more frequently than VaR
models predict Stress tests are designed to estimate
the potential economic losses 1 such abnormal
markets Therefore, stress testing combined with
VaR provides a more comprehensive picture of
market risk The Group regularly performs stress
tests that are constructed around changes 1n market
rates and prices that result from pre-specified
market scenaros, including both historical and
hypothetical market events Historical scenarios
include the 1994 bond market sell-off, the 1995
Mexican Peso crisis, the 1998 Russian cnisis and the
2001 September 11 market disruption Stress
testing 15 performed for all matenal tracding and
available-for-sale portfohos

A major objective of asset and hability

management 1s the maximsation of net wnterest

Histogram of daily trading profits & losses

60

53

Frequency {(days)

23

Daily profits / (losses)
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RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW continued
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income through the proactive management of the
asset and hability repricing profile based on
anticipated movements n interest rates VaR-based
himits are utilised to control fluctuations mn interest
earnings resulting from changes in interest rates The
asset and habihty repricing profile and details of the
effective interest rates prevaihng at the year end on
the various asset and hability categonies are set out in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements The
repricing profiles of individual assets and habhty
categories ncorporate the effect of interest rate
swaps used to modify the mterest rate characteristics
of specific transactions As illustrated in note 24, the
substantial majonity of assets and habiliies reprice
within one year The volume of interest-bearing
assets reprnicing over one year amounted to only
US%496 7 mullion or 2 9 per cent of total assets This
mamly represented nvestments 1n fixed rate
government securittes with a maxmum onginal
maturity of two years At 315t December 2003 the
modified duration of these fixed rate government

securities was 1 4

LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING

Ligmdity nsk 15 the risk of the Group’s financial
obhigations not being met fully and punctually as they
fall due The nsk anses from the urng differences
between the matunty profiles of the Group’s assets and
habilities 1t mncludes the nisk of losses ansing from the
following

= Forced sale of assets at below nonmal market pnces
* Raising of deposits or borrowmg funds at

excessive rates

»  The nvestment of surplus find at below market rates
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The Group mamntains a strong liquidity position
by managing the iquidity structure of assets, habhties
and commutments to ensure the Group has access to
adequate funds to meet 1ts obligations even under
adverse market conditions In normal market conditions
the Group endeavours to ensure that there are sufficient
funds not only to meet current obligations but also to
provide the flexibility to capitalise on market
opportunities

The Group applies a prudent mixture of
hqudity controls that provide secunty of access to
funds without undue exposure to increased costs from
the hiquidation of assets or the aggressive bidding for
deposits The liquidity controls ensure that over the
short term, by major cwrrency, the projected profile of
future cash flows from maturning assets 15 adequately
matched to the matunty of habilities Liqudity 1s
managed and monitored on a daily basis at the parent
company and subsihary levels, enabling senior
management to identfy changes and to react
accordingly to fluctuations i market conditions

The Group mantamns strong balance sheet
hquidity ratios and regularly monitors 1ts depositors to
ensure 1t retains a diversified deposit base n terms of
name concentration, range of counterparties and
maturities The Group mamntains a stock of hquid and
marketable secunties that can be readily sold or repoed
The funding base 15 enhanced through termn financing of
US$1,6513 mullion as at 315! December 2003, an
increase of US$621 3 million over the year Deposits
from customers provide a further stable source of
funding Contingency plans also exist that can be quickly
implemented to mamtain hquidity in cnists situations

without indenng long-term business objectives




The asset and hability matunty profile by
mdividual asset and lability category based on
coniractual repayment arrangements 15 set out m note 23
to the consohdated financial statements At 315!
December 2003, 421 per cent of total assets were
contracted (o mature within one year A sigmficant portion
of assets with longer-tlerm matuntes compnsed readily
realisable secunties With regard to deposits, retention
records demonstrate that there 15 considerable devergence
between their contractual and effective manunties By way
of example, average deposits 1 2003 from those
counterparties with deposits over US310 mulhion at
315! December 2003 amounted to US$8,849 6 million
These deposits of a core nature together with shareholders'
equity and term financing were three times the least hiquid
assct category, loans and advances The more stable
deposus from the GCC region also comfortably exceed
the loan portfolie At 315t December 2003 deposis from
GCC country governments and central banks and other
mnstrtutions headquartered 1n the GCC slates amounted to
US$6,940 3 mulhion GCC deposits to total loans cover
was therefore 1 8 imes Total deposits and term financing
coverage to loans was 3 5 imes while the hiquid assets
ratio, which expresses the sum iotal of bank balances,
money market instruments, placermnents with banks and
secunities as a percentage of total assets, was a very igh

76 7 per cent.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operanonal nsk 1s the nsk of loss ansing from
madequate or fmled mtemal processes, people and
sysiems or from external events It 1s an inherent nsk
faced by all businesses and covers a large number of

vulnerabilities including business interruption and

+> Page 33 <4

systems failures, internal and external fraud, employment
practces and workplace safety, customer and business
practices, transaction execution and  process
management, and damage to physical assets

Whlst operational nisk cannot be ehmmated m
its entirety, the Group endeavours to mumimise 1t by
ensuning that a strong control infrastructure 1s i place
throughout the orgamsation  The various procedures and
processes used to manage operational nisk include
effective staff training, appropnate controls to safeguard
assets and records, regular reconciliation of accounts and
transactions, close momtonng of nsk linuis, segregation
of duties, and financial management and reporting In
addition, other control strategies, including busmness
continuty planning and insurance, are m place to
complement the procedures, as applicable

A nsk assessment has been compiled which
identifies the operational nsks inherent m the Group’s
activities, processes and systems, and the controls
required 1o miugate these nsks are constantly under
review and updated as necessary A database of
measurable operational losses 15 mamntaned, together
with a record of key nisk indicators, which can provide an
early warning of possible operational nsk The process of
management reportuig 15 currently under review

The Group ensures that its processes are n
line with best practice and that 1t takes account of
fessons leamnt from published failures within the
global financial services industry In addition, the
Group has a strong Intemal Audit function, which
undertakes periodic, independent appraisals of the
actual functioning of the controls mn all the identified
nsk areas and reports on their findings 1o the Audit

Commuttee of the Board of Directors
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REPORT OF THE AUDITORS TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf International Bank B S C (the Bank) and its subsidianes
{the Group) as at, and for the year ended 3 15! December 2003 as set out on pages 37 to 73

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Bank Our responsibility 1s
to express an opimon on these financial statements based on our audit

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtamn reasonable assurance about whether the consohdated financial statements are free of matenal
misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the
consolidated financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sigmificant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion

Opinion

In our opimon, the consolidated financial statements present farrly, 1n all mateniat respects, the financial position of the
Group as at 315t December 2003, and the results of 1ts operations, changes n sharcholders’ equity and its cash flows for
the year then ended, i accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board

Other regulatory matters

In addition, in our optnion, the Group has mamntamed proper accounting records and the consohidated financial statements
are 1n agreement therewith We have reviewed the accompanying Chairman’s Statement and confirm that the information
contamned theremn 1s consistent with the consolidated financial statements To the best of our knowledge and belief, no
violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001, or the Bahrain Monetary Agency Law 1973 (as amended), or
the terms of the Bank’s licence, or its Agreement of Establishment, or its Articles of Assocration have occurred dunng the
year that might have had a matenial adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on 1ts financial position Satisfactory
explanations and information have been provided to us by management 1n response to all our requests

et

KPMG

Public Accountants

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
27th January 2004
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Cash and other hquid assets
Placements with banks
Trading securties
Available-for-sale securities
loans and advances

Fixed assets

Other assels

Total assets

Liabulities

Deposits from banks

Deposits from customers

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Securities sold but not yet purchased

Other liabihties

Term financing

Subordinated term loans

Total habilities

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capnal

Share premium

Reserves

Retained earnings

Shareholders’ equity

Total habilthes & shareholders’ equity

Note

O WO~ bW

1
aa|

12
13
14

15

16

AtL311203 At311202
US$ millions UJS$ milhons
2150 147 6
3.0231 3,024 0
1.583 6 1,201 4
84518 82804
37596 32558

188 206
2508 . 306 7
17,302 4 16,236 5
54299 57420
4,910 2 50795
3,006 5 2,576 7
2712 533

644 5 626 8

1,501 3 8800
1500 150 0
CTaseze 151083
1,000 0 1,0000

76 76

226 8 371

154 4 835
13888 1,128 2
17,302 4 16,236 5

The consolidated financtal stalements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27th January 2004 and signed on their behalf by -

Ebratumn Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa
Chairman

The nates on pages 41 to 73 form part of these consolidated financial sl

tatements

Dr Khaled M Al-Fayez
Chief Executive Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Interest Revenue
interest on secunties
Interest and fees on loans

Interest on placements and other iquid assets

Interest Expense

Net interest income

Provisions for securities

Prowisions for loans and advances
Net interest iIncome after provisions

Other Income
Net interest and other income

Operating Expenses
Saff

Premises

Other

Net income before tax

Taxation charge on overseas activities
Net income after tax

Earmings per share

Nole

18

19

31

The notes on pages 41 to 73 form part of these consolidated Tinancial statements.

Year ended Year ended
311203 311202
US$ milions _____UJS$ mions
2713 3435

97 2 117 1
608 610
4293 5276
2820 39
167 3 1957

508 a32
44 _ . .05

1121 1130

. .. . B84
2324 2014
831 732

100 96
.30 328
Tz ALY
106 3 858

——e @2 05
106 1 85 3
us$o 11 U530 09
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Actvities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash outflow

from operating activities

Provisions far secunties
Provisions for loans and advances
Profit on available-for-sale securities
Amortisation of avallable-for-sale securities
Depreciation of fixed assets
Decrease In accrued interest receivable
Decrease i accrued interest payable
Decrease in other net assets
Net increase m trading securities

Net cash outflow from operating activities

investing Activities
Net decrease / (increase) in placements with banks
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances
Purchase of available-for-sale secunues
Sale and matunty of available-for-sale securities
Purchase of fixed assets

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing Activilies
Net decrease in deposits from banks
Net {decrease} / increase 1n deposits from customers
Net increase in securites sold under agreements to repurchase
Net increase / (decrease} in securittes sold but not yet purchased
Increase 1n semor term financing
Dividends paid

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Increase n cash and cash equvalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1%t January

Cash and cash equivalents at 315t December

Tha notes on pages 41 10 73 lorm pan of these consolidated financial statements
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Year ended Year ended
311203 311202
US$ milhions US$ militons
106 1 853
508 832
44 (0 5)
(15 6) (19 4)
63 165

64 71

26 4 373
(25 1) 347
1315 53
(382 2) (194 1)
(91 0) (14 6)
09 (330 4)

(508 2) 541
(2,724 8} (3.337 5)
26502 2,733 2
(4 6) {52)
(586 5) (885 8)
(312 1) (449 0)
{169 3) 3458
4298 11543
2179 (69 3)
6213 250
427 (50 0)
744 9 956 8
674 56 4
147 6 912
2150 147 6




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

At 315! December 2001
Anising 1n the year -
- Avallable-for-sale securiues
net fair value losses
- Cash fiow hedges
net farr value gains
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net income
Net (losses)/gains recogrused
directly In equity
Dividend for 2001
Net income for the year
Transfers from retained earnings
At 315t December 2002
Ansing in the year -
- Avaable-for-sale securities
net fair value gains
- Cash flow hedges
net fair value gains
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net income
Net gains recogruised directly
n equity
Dwidend for 2002
Net income for the year
Transfers from retained earrings
At 315! December 2003

The notes on pages 41 10 73 fori pan of these cor
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Share Share Reserves Retained Total
capital premium earmngs
US$ milions  US$ milions  USS mulions  US$ mullions US$ mutlions

1,000 0 76 1335 526 1,193 7
- - (113 1) - {113 1)
- - 137 - 137
- - {14 Q) 126 (14)
- - (113 4) 126 {100 8)
- - - (50 0) (50 0)
- - - 853 853
- - 170 {17 0) -

1,000 0 76 71 835 1,128 2
- - 171 4 - 1714
- - 08 - o8
- - (37) 287 250
- - 168 5 287 197 2
. . - @27 (427)
- - - 106 1 106 1
- - 212 (21 2) -

1,000 0 76 226 8 154 4 1,388 8

] financial s




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 315! December 2003

1 INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

The parent company of the Group (the Group), Gulf Internationatl Bank BS C (the Bank) ts a Bahraim Shareholding Company
incarporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by Amirt Decree Law No 30 dated 24 November 1975 and 15 registered as an offshore
banking unit with the Bahrasmn Monetary Agency The registered office of the Bank 1s located at Al-Dowali Building, 3 Palace
Avenue, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

The Group 15 principally engaged 1n the provision of wholesale commercial and investment banking services The Group operates
through subsidiaries, branch offices and representative offices located In six countries worldwide The total number of staff
employed by the Group at the end of the financial year was 582

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted n the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set cut below -

2 1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in actordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of rading securiies, available for-sale secunties and
denvative financial instruments as explained in more detail In the following accounting policies Recogmised assets and
liabihues that are hedged by derivative financial instruments are also stated at fair value in respect of the risk that 1s being
hedged The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Bank and its subsidianies and are consistent with
those of the previous year

2 2 Consclhidation principles
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Gulf International Bank B S C and s subsidharies Subsidiary
undertakings are companies and other entives, including special purpose entities, tn which the Bank holds, directty or
indirectly, more than one half of the voting rights, or otherwise has the power to exercise effective control over the financial
and operating policies of the entity All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between Group compantes, have been eliminated

2 3 Trade and setlement date accounting
Al regular way purchases and sales of financial assets held for trading are recognised on the trade date, 1e the date on
which the Group commuls to purchase or sell the financial asset All regular way purchases and sales of other financial assets
are recogmsed on the seitlement date. 1 e the date on which the asset is delivered to or received from the counterparty
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame
generally established by regulabon or convention in the market place

2 4 Foreign currencies
The reporung currency of the Group 1s the US Dollar The share capitals of the Bank and its principal subsidiaries are also
denominated in US Dollars Transactons in foreign currencies are converted to US Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated mto US
Dollars at market rates of exchange prevailing on the balance sheet date Realised and unreahsed foreign exchange profits
and losses are included in other income
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 5 Offsetting
Financial assets and habilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there Is
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there 1s an mtention to seftle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the hability simultaneously

2 6 Denwauve finaneial snstruments
Denvative financial instruments are contracts the value of which 1s derived from one or more underlying financtal instruments
or indices, and mclude futures, forwards, swaps and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets

Denivative financial instruments are iniially recogmised 1n the consolidated balance sheet at cost, inciuding transaction costs,
and subsequently remeasured to farr value Fair values are derived from prevaiing market prices, discounted cash flow
models or opuon pricing models as appropnate In the consolidated balance sheet, derivabive finaneial instruments with
posiive fair values (unrealised gains} are included in other assets and derwvative financial instruments with negauve fair
valtues (unreahsed losses} are included In other habilities

The changes in the fair values of denvative financial instruments entered nto for trading purposes or 1o hedge other rading
positions are included in other Income in the consolidated statement of Income

The recognition of changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into for hedging purposes 15
determined by the nature of the hedging relationship For the purposes of hedge accounting, derivative financial instruments
are designated as a hedge of either (1) the fair value of a recogmsed asset or hability (fair value hedge), or (11} the future
cash flows atinbutable lo a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment (cash flow hedge)

The Group's critena for a dernivauve financial instrument to be accounted for as a hedge nclude -

- the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of the nisk being hedged, and the nsk management objective
and strategy must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge,

- 1t must be clearly demonstrated that the hedge 1s expected to be ighly effective in offsetting the changes in fair values or
cash flows attributable to the hedged nisk i the hedged item,

- the effectiveness of the hedge must be capable of being rehably measured, and

- the hedge must be assessed on an ongoing basis and determined to have actually been highly effective throughout the
financial reporting period

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial Instruments that are designated, and qualfy, as fair value hedges and that
prove to be highly effective in relauon to the hedged nisk, are included 1n other income In the consolhidated statement of
income together with the corresponding change n the fair value of the hedged asset or lability that 15 attnbutable to the
nisk that 1s being hedged Unrealised gans and losses ansing on hedged assels or liabiliies which are attribulable to the
hedged nisk are adjusted against the carrying amounts of the hedged assets or liabiliies in the censolidated balance sheet
If the hedge no longer meets the cnitena for hedge accounting, any adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-
bearing financial instrument 1s amortised to Income over the rematning period to maturity
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contnued)

2 6 Denvauve financial instruments (continued)
Changes 1n the fair values of derivagve financial instruments that are designated, and qualify, as cash flow hedges and that
prove to be highly effective in relation to the hedged nisk, are recognised in a separate component of sharehoclders’ equity
Unreahsed gains or losses recagmised 1n shareholder's equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of income at the
same time that the income or expense of the carresponding hedged item 1s recogrised in the income statement and are
included n the same income or expense category as the hedged tem Unreahsed gamns or losses on any ineffectve portion
of cash flow hedging transactons are recogmsed m other ncome in the consolidated statement of iIncome

The interest component of dervatives that are designated, and qualfy, as far value or cash flow hedges s recogrised In
interest Income or Interest expense over the hfe of the denivative instrument

Certain dernwvative transactions, while prowviding effective economic hedges within the Group'’s risk management posittons,
do not qualify for hedge accounting under the specfic rules in IAS 39 Such denvauve transactions are categorised as
derivatives held for trading and related fair value gains and losses included in other income in the consolidated statement
of iIncome

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the deriwvative hedging instrument either expires or 1s sold terminated or exercised,
or no longer gualifies for hedge accounting

2 7 Interest income and expense
Interest income and interest expense are recognised for all interest-beaning financial instruments on an accruals basis using
the effective yield method based on the onginal setttement amount Loan ongination fees are deferred and recognised as
an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan Interest income 1s suspended when interest or principal on a crechit facilty
1s overdue by more than 80 days whereupon all unpaid and accrued interest is reversed from income Interest on non-
accrual faciites 1s 1ncluded in income only when recewved Credit faciliies are restored o accrual stalus only afler all
delinquent interest and principal payments have been hrought current and future payments are reasonably assured

2 8 Secunities financing arrangements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell {reverse repurchase agreements) and securities sold under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) are trealed as collateralised lending and borrowing transactions and are recorded n
the consolidated balance sheet at the amounts the securiies were nibally acquired or sold Interest earned on reverse
repurchase agreements and interest incurred on repurchase agreemenis are included in interest income and interest expense
respectively Secunbies purchased under agreements to resell are included in cash and other liquid assets

2 9 Securities
Trading securities are securities which are either acquired for the purpose of generating a profit from shart-term fluctuations
1n price or are included 1n a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit taking exists Trading secunies are inibally
recognised at cost. Including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured to far value based on quoted market prices
Realised and unrealised gans and losses are tncluded n other income Interest earned on trading securities and nterest
Incurred on securiies sold but not yet purchased ara included tn interest ncome and Interest expense respecuvely
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

29

210

Securities (continued)

Avalable-for-sale securities are intended to be held for an indefinite perrod of ime and may be sold in response to needs
for hquidity changes 1n interest rates or concerns with respect {o credit deterioraion Available-for-sale securiues are
imbally recogmised at cosl including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured to fair value based on quoted market
prices or amounts derived from cash flow models as appropnate Unquoted and iliquid equity investments for which fair
values cannot be rehably measured are stated at cost less provision for impairment Unrealised gains and losses ansing
from changes 1n the fair values of available-for-sale securities after the adoption of 1AS 39 on 1%t January 2001 are
recagnised In a separale revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity The cumulative fair value adjustments on available
for-sale securibes which are sold or otherwise disposed of, or become impaired, and which had previously been
recogrsed in shareholder’s equity are transferred to the consolidated stalement of income

Dividends received on trading and avaslable-for-sale securiies are included 1n other income

Bonds recerved in settlement of sovereign debt interest and principal claims are capialised at the same net book vaiue as

other debt obligations of that country The capitalised amount of bonds received in settlement of interest claims s included

in iiterest income

Loans and advances

Loans onginated by the Group by prowiding money directly to the borrower or to a sub-parucipation agent at the
drawdown date are categortsed as loans onginated by the Group Oniginated loans are stated at amorused cost less
provision for impairment

Purchased loans, sncluding sub participations purchased subsequent to the prowision of the oniginal loan, which are
acquired for the purpose of generaung a profit in the short term are categorised as hetd-for-trading assets Lloans
categonised as held-for-trading are imiially recogmsed at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured
to fair value based on available market prices Realised and unrealised gains and losses are included in other income
Interest earned on trading loans 1s included i interest ncome  Purchased loans which are intended to be held to maturity
are categorised as held-to-maturity assets and stated at amortised cost less provision for impairment

Loans are written off after all restructuring and collection activittes have taken place and the possibiity of further recovery
15 considered to be remote  Subsequent recoveries are wncluded in other income

Provisions for impairment

A provision for impairment is established where there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not collect all amounts due,
including both principal and nterest, in accordance with the contractual terms of the credit facility The prowston for
impairment 15 determined based on the difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the
financial asset The recoverable amount 1s measured as the present value of expected future cash flows, including amounts
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at the inception of the credit facility or,
for debt mstruments remeasured to fair value, at the current market rate of interest for a similar financial asset

Provisions for impawrment are also measured and recognised on a portfolio basis where there is objective evidence that
probable losses are present n groups of similar credit exposures These exposures are collectively evaluated for
impairment with the provisians for expected losses based on the apphicable credit ralings and associated historical default
probabiiities, loss severity and rating migrations, and reflect the macroeconomic, pohtical and business ervironment and
other pertinent indicators
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

211

212

213

214

215

216

Provisions for impairment {continued)
Provistons for impairment are released where a subsequent increase i the recoverable amount 1s related objectively to
an event occurring after the provision for impairment was established

Other provisions

OCther provisions are recogrised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event
it 1s probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits wili be required to settle the obligation, and a
rellable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligatien

Fixed assets
Land 15 stated at cost Other fixed assels are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Where the carrying amount of
a hixed asset is greater than its esimated recoverable amount, the asset 1s written down to 115 recoverable amount

Generally, costs associated with the maintenance of existing computer software are recogrised as an expense when
incurred  However, expenditure that enhances and extends the benefits of computer software programs beyond their
oniginal specifications and lives 1s recogrused as a capital improvement and capitaiised as part of the oniginal cost of the
software

Post retirement benefits

The majority of the Group's employees are eligible for post retirement benefits under either defined benefit or defined
contribution pension plans which are provided through separate trustee-adnurustered funds or insurance plans The
Group also pays contributions o Government defined contribution pension plans in accordance with the legal
requirements 1n each location

The Group's contributions te defined contribution pension ptans are charged to income 1n the year to whrch they relate

The pension costs for defined benefit pension plans are assessed using the projected umit credit method The cost of
provicing pensions 1s charged to income so as to spread the regular cost of pensions over the service lives of the
employees, 1n accordance with the adwvice of an independent qualified actuary who conducts a full valuation of the plan
every three years The pension obligation is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash flows using interest
rales of government secunties which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related hability Actuanal gains
and losses are recognised In income over the average remainting service lives of employees

Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided, using the hability method, for temporary differences arnising between the tax bases
of assets and habiliues and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes Deferred tax assets are recogmsed only
to the extent thal 1t 1s probable that future taxable profits wil be availlable against which the unused tax losses and credits
can be utihsed Currently enacled tax rates are used to determine deferred income taxes

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpases of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and other hquid assets
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 17 Segment reporung
A segment 15 a disungwishable component of the Group that )s engaged 1n providing products or services (business
segment) or In providing products or services within a parlicular economic environment {geographical segment), which 1s
subysect to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments Segments whose revenue, result or assets
comprise 10 per cent or more of the total for all segments are reported separately

2 18 Fiducary activities
The Group administers and manages assets owned by clients which are not reflected in the conschdaled financial
statements Asset management fees are earned for providing investment management services and for managing mutual
fund products Asset admimistration fees are earned for providing custodial services Fees are recogrised as the services
are provided and are included in other income

2 19 Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation n the current year

3 CASH AND OTHER BQUID ASSEYS

311203 311202

US$ millions o USE mulions.

Cash and balances with banks 1419 143 4

Certificates of deposit 384 30

Treasury bills 212 12
Securities purchased under agreements to reseli 136 -

2150 1476

Certficates of deposit and treasury bills are categorised as assets held-to-maturity and are stated at amorused cost

4 PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS
Placements with banks are categortsed as assets held-to-maturity and are stated at cost

Placements with banks at 315! December 2003 included placements with non-bank financial institutlions amounting to US$77 &
mulhon (2002 US$51 O mithion)
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5 TRADING SECURITIES

311203 311202

Uss$ milions US$ mullions

Government bonds 1496 651
Listed debt securities 1,168 0 9741
Unlisted debt securiies 398 14 4
Managed funds 1596 1377
Equities 66 6 101
1,583 6 1,201 4

Managed funds represent funds placed for investment with external asset managers The funcls provide a diversified exposure

to foreign exchange and international debt markels

6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE-SECURITIES

a) Classification of avallable-for-safe securities

311203 311202

US$ millions US$ mithions

AAA/Aaa rated debt securities 1,722 4 1,282 5
Debt securibes of other investment grade ssuers 59730 5,804 0
Other debt securities 2185 664 8
Equities and equity furids 5379 5291
8,451 8 8 280 4

The Group's available-for-sale securities predominantly comprise higher quality investment grade rated debt securities At
315! December 2003, 91 0 per cent of available-for-sale securiies were investment grade-rated (2002 85 6 per cent)

Equities and equity funds principally compnised tnvestments of a structured finance nature managed by internabional

investment banks, the underlying investments of which are high quality, investment-grade rated debt securities

Debt securities of other nvestment grade 1ssuers at 315 December 2003 included GCC country government securiies of

US$1,000 2 malion (2002 US$1,157 7 mullion)
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6 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE-SECURITIES (continued)

b) Prowvisions for impairment

At 1% January

Exchange rate movements
Amounts utilised

Charge for the year

Al 315t December

¢} Unguoted equity investments

2003 2002

US$ millions US$ millions
125 6 80 4

35 29

(877 (40 9)

508 832

922 1256

Available-for-sale securites at 315 December 2003 included US$58 9 mition {2002 US$81 0 milion) of unquoted equity
investments for which fair values cannot be reliably measured These investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment They
principally comprise investments In managed enttees, the underlying investments of which are primartly of esther a corporate debt or
privale equity nature, managed by external specialist managers and internaonal investment banks There are no active markets or
other appropniate methods from which to denve reliable fair values for these invesiments

7 LOANS AND ADVANCES

Loans oniginated by the Group
Loans purchased by the Group
- held for trading

- held to malurity

Gross loans and advances
Provisions for |mpalrmenl

Net loans and advances

a) Concentratons of loans and advances

311203 311202
US$ milions US3$ millons
42808 3.8320

44 2 -
156 1 1150
4,481 1 40070
{721 5) (751 2)
3,759 6 3.2558

Net loans and advances at 315! December 2003 included exposure to GCC country governments of US$299 8 mullion (2002
US$323 2 mulhion) and OECD country central government and agency nisk of US$98 @ million (2002 US$124 4 million)

There were no significant concentrations by industrial sector at either 319! December 2003 or a1 313 December 2002
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)

b) Provisions for impairment

c)

The movements in the provisions for the impawrment of leans and advances were as follows -

2003 2002
Speafic  Norespecific Total Specific  Non-specific Totat
provision provision provision provision

US$ milions  US$ millions US$ millions USS mithons  US$ millions  US$ mullions

At st January 5608 190 4 7512 5516 190 4 7420
Exchange rate and

other movements 207 - 207 180 - 180
Amounts utihsed (54 8) - (54 8) (8 3) - (8 3)
Charge/(release) for the year 12 4 B0 44 05) - (0 5)
At 315! December 539 1 182 4 7215 5608 190 4 7512

Total specific prowisions at 313 December 2003 represented 89 1 per cent (2002 84 8 per cent) of loans against which a
specific provision had been made Total non-specific provistons at 315! December 2003 represented 4 7 per cent (2002 5 7
per cent) of loans which had not been specifically provided against Total prowisions at 315! December 2003 exceeded the
gross book value of past due loans by US$159 1 mithen (2002 US$181 1 mifhon)

At 315 December 2003 there was no accrued but uncollected interest on impaired loans included in interest income (2002 i}

Past due loans

The gross and net book value of loans for which either principal or interest was over 90 days past due were as follows -

311203 311202
Gross Net book Gross Net book
value value
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ muilions
Sovereign 440 5 08 4218 07
Corporate 1089 413 1436 47 3
Financial institutions 130 08 47 -
562 4 429 5701 48 O
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued}

¢) Past dug loans (continued)

The overdue status of past due toans based on original coniractual maturities was as follows -

Within 6 months

7 months to 1 year
21to 5 years

Over 5 years

311203 311202
US$ millions US$ milhons
B 25

339 26 4

7386 793

454 9 4619

562 4 5701

At 315 December 2003 uncollected Interest-n-suspense on past due loans amounted to US$522 3 milion (2002 US$501 3million}

8 FIXED ASSETS

At 315t December 2003
Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

Al 315! December 2002
Met book value

9 OTHER ASSETS

Accrued interest, fees and commissions

Denwvative financial instruments
Qutstanding security settlements
Deferred items

Prepaid pension cost

Other prepayments

Other, ncluding accounts receivable

Freehold Buldings  Premises and Total
land equipment

USS mitligns ~ USS milions_ US$ milons __ US$ millions

89 272 540 901

- 267 44 6 713

89 05 94 188

B9 09 108 206

311203 311202

US$ rmilions US$ millions

156 8 1832

355 322

122 325

i26 157

87 130

30 48

217 253

2505 306 7

Derivative financial instruments represent the positive fair values of denvative financial instruments entered into for trading purposes, or
designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of denvative financial instruments 1s set out tn Note 25(d)

An analysis of the prepatd pension cost ts set out 1n Note 10
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10 POST REMIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group contributes to defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans which cover substantially all its employees

The Bank maintains defined contnbution pension plans for the majonty of its employees Contributions are based on a
percentage of salary The amounts to be paid as retirement benefits are deterrmuned by reference to the amounts of the
contributions and investment earmngs thereon The total cost of contnbutions to defined contnbution pension plans for the year
ended 315 December 2003 amounted to US$3 2 mulion (2002 US$3 2 milion)

The Bank’s principal subsidiary, Gulf Internationa! Bank (UK} Limited {GIBUK), maintains a defined benefit pension plan for
substantially all its employees The assets of the plan are held mndependently of the subsidiary’s assets in a separate trustee
administered fund The pension costs are charged to income so as to spread the regular cost of the pensions over the service
lives of the employees, in accordance with the advice of an independent qualified actuary who conducts a full valuation of the
plan every three years using the projected unit credit method In the intervening years the calculaton 1s updated based on
information received from the actuary The latest full actuanal valuation was carried out at 15! January 2001

The amount recognised in the consohdated balance sheet 1s anatysed as follows -

311203 311202

Us$ millions US$ millions

Far value of plan assets 80 2 591
Present value of fund obligations —_ %781
(139) (19 0)

Unrecogrused actuarial loss 226 320
MNet assel in the consohdated balance sheet 87 130

The movements 1n the net asset recogrised in the consolidated balance sheet were as follows -

2003 2002
US$ millions US$ miitions

Ag 18 January 130 175
Net expense included in staff expenses 6 2) (4 5)
Contributions paid 32 -
Exchange differences (13) . .
At 315! December 87 130
The amounts recogrused in the consohdated statemernt of income were as follows -

2003 2002

US$ millions US$ millions

Current service cost 51 46
Interest cost 39 36
Expected return on plan assets (4 1) {4 5
Amortisation of actuaral loss 13 08
Total included in staff expenses 62 45
The principal actuanal assumptions used for accounting purposes were as follows -

2003 2002
Discount rate 5B% 50%
Expected return on plan assets 7 0% 70%
Future salary increases 4 0% 39%
Future increases to pensions in payment 27% 2 3%

&> Page 51 <%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 315 December 2003

1

12

13

DEPOSITS
Deposits from customers include deposits from central banks

The geographical composition of total deposits was as follows -

311203 311202

US$ mullions US$ mullions

GCC countries 6,940 3 6,992 C
QOther countries 33998 38295
10,3401 10,8215

GCC deposits comprise deposits from GCC country governments and central banks and other institubions headquartered in
the GCC states

OTHER LIABILITIES
311203 311202
Us$ milhons US$ mithons
Derwvative financial instruments 2578 3082
Accrued interest 126 2 1513
Cutstanding secunity setllements 456 g4
Deferred items 707 638
Minonity interesls 849 306
Other, including accounts payable and accrued expenses 593 635
644 5 626 8

Dervative financial instruments represent the negative fair values of denvatve financia! instruments entered into for rading
purposes, or designated as fair value or cash flow hedges An analysis of the fair value of derivatve financial instruments 15
set out 1in Note 25(d)

Minority interests represent minority interests in fund products managed by the Bank and s subsicharies Fund products 1n
which the Bank holds, directly or indirectly, more than half of the net asset value are accounted for on a consohidated basis

TERM FINANCING

311203 311202

Us$ milions US$ millions

US$ Floatng rate lcans due in 2004 750 750

US$ Floating rate loans due in 2005 5010 4000
US$ Istamic murabaha term faciiies due 1n 2005 703 -

US$ Fleating rate loan due in 2006 300 300

US$ Floating rate note due i 2007 3250 3250
US$ Floating rate repo due between 2007 and 2009 5000 -

US$ Floating rate loan due in 2003 - 500

1,501 3 8800
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15

16

SUBORDINATED TERM LOANS

US$ Floating rate loan due 2011
US$ Floating rate loan due 2011

311203 311202
US$ millions US$ milltons
1000 1000

500 500

1500 150 ¢

The suberdinated term loans represent unsecured obligations of the Group and are subordinated n night of payment to the
clarms of depositors and other credutors of the Group that are not also subordinated The subordmnated loans have been
approved for inclusion in Tier 2 capital for capital adequacy purposes by the Bank's regulator, the Bahrain Monetary Agency

SHARE CAPITAL

The authonised share capnal at 315! December 2003 comprised 3 O biltion shares of US$1 each (2002 3 O billion shares of
US$1 each) The issued share captal at 315 December 2003 comprised 1 0 billion shares of US$1 each (2002 1 0 billion

shares of US$1 each) Allssued shares are fully paid

RESERVES

At 315 December 2001
Ansing In the year -
- Avallable-for-sale securiies
net fair value losses
- Cash flow hedges
net fair value gains
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net mcome
MNet gains/(losses) recognised
directly 11y equity
Transfers from retained earnings

At 315 December 2002
Arising in the year -
- Available-for-sale securities
net fair value gains
- Cash flow hedges
net fair value gains
Transfers in the year -
- Transfers to net income
Net (losses)/gains recogmsed
directly 1n equity
Transfers from retained earnings

At 315t December 2003

Available
-for-sale
securies
Compulsory Voluntary Cash flow revaluation
reserve reserve  hedge reserve reserve Tota!
US$ mallions US$ mithons US$ milions US$ millions US$ mdhons
911 286 76 62 1335
. . - {113 1) (113 1)
- - 137 - 137
- - (9 6) (4 4) {14 0)
. - 41 (117 5} (113 4)
85 85 - - 170
996 371 117 (111 3) 371
- - - 1714 1714
- - [45:] - 08
- - 41 04 (37}
- - (33 1718 168 5
i06 106 - - 212
110 2 477 84 60 5 226 8

In accordance with the Bank's articles of association, 10 per cent of the Bank's net profit for the year 15 reguired to be
ransferred to each of the compulsory and voluntary reserves Transfers to the non-distnbutable compulsory reserve are
required unbt such time as this reserve represents 50 per cent of the issued share capital of the Bank The voluntary reserve
may be utiised at the discretion of the Board of Directors
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 DIVIDENDS

Dividends are rot accounted for unbl they have been rauified at the general assembly meeting The drvdend ratified in respect of
2003 wilt be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained eamings in the year ending 315! December 2004

18 OTHER INCOME

2003 2002

_Ussmihons  US$ mitons

Profit / (loss} on trading securities 396 51H
Dwndend income 237 315
Investment banking and management fees 188 170
Profit on available-for-sale securiies 156 194
Profit on foreign exchange 112 65
Commissions on letters of credit and guarantee 89 76
Other fee and sundry income 25 32
Profit on cash flow hedges T - X
120 3 88 4

Dividend income comprised dividends received of US$2 2 mullion and US$21 5 milon from equibes and equity funds in the
trading and available-for-sale security portfolios respectively (2002 US$5 2 milien and US$26 3 milon respectively} The
funding cost in respect of the equities and equity funds 15 included In interest expense In the consolidated statement of income

Investment banking and management fees comprised fees relating to the provision of investment management and financial
services, Including assel and fund management, underwniling activites and services relating to structured financing,
privatisations, IPO's, and mergers and acquisitions

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

At 315t December 2002 a deferred tax asset of US$3 2 mullion associated with an JIAS 39-related consolidation adjustment in
refation to a subsidiary company was not recognised in the consolidated financial statements due to the uncertainty of the
recovery of the tax losses against future taxable profits There was no deferred tax asset at 315t December 2003
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20 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Segmenta! information 1s presented In respect of the Group's business and geographical segments The primary reporting
format, business segments, 15 based on the products and services provided or the type of customer serviced and reflects the
manner in which financial informatton 15 evaluated by management and the Board of Directors

a) Business Segments

For financial reporting purposes, the Group 1s argarused into three main business segments -

-

Corporate and institutional banking - the provisicn of wholesale commercial financing and other credit facilities
for corporate and institutional customers

-

Treasury and financial markets - the provision of a broad range of treasury and capital market products and services 1o
corporate and financial institution chents money market, proprietary trading and investment acbvibies and the
management of the Group’s batance sheet, including funding

Investment management and banking - the provision of investment management and financial adwvisory services, including
asset management and services relating to structured financing, privatisations, IPO's and mergers and acquisitions

The results reparted for the business segments are based on the Group’s internat financial reporting systems The
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those apphed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as set out in Note 2 Transactions between business segments are conducted on normail
commercial terms and conditions Transfer pricing between the business units 15 based on the market cost of funds

Segment resulls, assels and habihties comprise items directly attributable to the business segments The 'corporate
and other’ category comprises items which are not directly altributable to specific business segments, including
investments of a strategic nature and the investment of, and earnings an, the Group's net free capital Unallocated
overheads and excepuonal charges are reported separately
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20 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION {continued)

The business segment analysis is as follows -

Corporate Treasury tnvestment Corporate Total
and institutional and financial management and other
banking markets and banking

US$ millions US$ milhons US$ millions Us$ millions US$ millions

2003

Net interest and other income 40 4 138 3 12 8 409 2324
Segment result 311 119 5 49 394 1949

Unallocated overhead (88 6}
Taxation on overseas activities 02}
Net income after tax 106 1

Segment assets 38135 13,334 3 - 154 6 17,302 4

Segment liabilities - 14,838 1 - 10755 15913 6

Shareholders’ equity 1,388 8

Total habilines and shareholders’ equity 17,302 4

2002

Net interest and other income 456 814 118 626 201 4

Segment result 36 3 62 3 44 606 1636

Unallocated overhead (77 8)
Taxation on overseas activilies 09
Net income afier tax 853

Segment assets 3.317 6 12,443 6 - 475 3 16,236 5

Segment habilities - 14,026 3 - 1,082 C 15,108 3

Shareholders’ equity 11282

Total habilities and shareholders’ equity 16,236 5

+& Page 56 <F




20 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

b) Geographical segments

Although the Group’s three main business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they are considered to operate
in two geographical markets the GCC and the rest of the world

The geographical composition of net interest and other Ncome based on the location in which transactions are booked and
income 1s recorded was as follows -

2003 2002

US$ milhions US$ milhigns

GCC countries 1745 2097
Other countrnies 579 (8 3)
232 4 201 4

The geographical analyses of deposits and nsk assets are set out In Notes 11 and 22 respectively

21 RISK MANAGEMENT

The principal nsks associated with the Group's businesses are credit nsk, market risk, hquidity nisk and operational nsk The
Group has a comprehensive risk management framework 1n place for managing these risks which ts constantly evolving as the
business activities change In response to credit, market, product and cther developments The nisk management framework s
guided by a number of gverrnding prinaples including the formal definition of risk management governance, an evaluation of
risk appetite expressed in terms of formal risk limits, nsk oversight independent of business units, disciphined nsk assessment and
measurement Including Value-at-Risk (VaR) methodologies and portfolio stress testing, and risk diversification The Board of
Directors set the Group’s overall risk parameters and risk tolerances, and the significant risk management policies A Board Risk
Policy Commuttee reviews and reports to the Board of Directors on the Group's nsk profile and nsk taking actviies A
Management Commuttee, chaired by the Group Chief Execubve Oificer, has the primary responsibility for sanctioning risk taking
activiies and risk management policies within the overall risk parameters and tolerances defined by the Board of Directors A
Group Risk Committee, under the chairmanship of the Managing Director of Risk Management and compnising the Group’s most
senior nisk professionals, prowvides a forum for the review and approval of nsk measurement methodologies, nisk control
processes and the approval of new products  The Group Risk Committee also reviews all nsk policies and hmuts that reqenre the
forma! approval of the Management Committee The nsk management control process I1s based on a detaled structure of
policies, procedures and limuts, and comprehensive risk measurement and management informauon systems for the control,
monitoring and reporting of risks Periodic reviews by internal and external auditors and regulatory authorities subject the nisk
management processes to additional scruiny which help to further strengthen the rnisk management ervironment
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21 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The principal risks associated with the Group's businesses and the related nsk management processes are commented on
as follows -

Credit nsk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparties will be unable to meet their obligations to the Group  Credit risk anses principally
from the Group’s lending and investment activities in addition lo other transactions involving both on and off balance sheet
financial wnstruments  Disciplined processes are in place at both the business unit and corporate level that are intended to
ensure that rnisks are accurately assessed and properly approved and momtored Formal credit imits are applied at the
indwidual transaction, counterparty, country and portfolio fevels Overall exposures are also evaluated to ensure a broad
diversification of credit sk The credit management process involves the monitoring of concentrations by product, industry,
single obligor, nsk grade and geography, and the regular appraisal of counterparty credit quality through the analysis of
qualitative and quanttative informaton  The Group also miligates its credit exposures on foreign exchange and denvauve
financial instruments through the use of master neting agreements and collateral arrangements

The geographical distribution of risk assets is set out in Note 22 An analysis of the credit nisk in respect of foreign exchange
and derivalive financia! instruments rs set out in Note 25 while the notional and nisk-weighted exposures for credit-related
financial nstruments are detalled i Note 26

Market risk

Market risk 1s the nisk of loss due to adverse changes In interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and market
conditions, such as hquidity The principal markel risks to winch the Group 1 exposed are interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk and equity price risk associated with its trading, investment and asset and hability management activities The portfolio
effects of holding a diversified range of instruments across a variety of businesses and geographic areas contribute lo a
reduction in the potential negalive impact on earnings from market risk factors

* Trading market nsk The Group’s trading acuvities principally comprise trading 1in debt and equity securities foreign
exchange and derivative financial instruments  Dervative financial instruments include futures, forwards, swaps and
options In the interest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets  The Group manages and controls the market risk within
its trading porifolios through limit structures of both a VaR and non-VaR nature Non-VaR based constraints relate, inter
aha, to posiions, volumes, concentrations, allowable losses and maturities VaR is a nsk measurement concept which
uses statistical models to esimale, within a given leve! of confidence, the maximum potential negauive change n the
markel value of a portfolio over a specfied time horizon resulting from an adverse movement in rates and prices The
Group supplements daily VaR calculations with portfolio stress tesing which measures the impact of simulated abnormal
changes in market rates and prices on the market vatues of the portfolios It 15 recogmsed that VaR 1s not a measure of
the absalute imit of markel risk and that losses in excess of the VaR amounts will, on occasion, anse The composition of
the debt and equity trading securities 1s set out in Note & An analysis of denvative financial instruments, ncluding the
VaR of foreign exchange and denwvauve trading contracts, is set out In Note 25
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21 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk {continued)
The VaR by risk class for the Group's irading positions, as calculated 1n accordance with the basis set out in Note 28,
was as follows -

311203 2003 average 311202 2002 average

US$ milhons USs$ milhons US$ millions US$ milhons

Interest rate risk 44 46 40 61
Fareign exchange risk 25 1856 10 14
Equity nsk 17 24 16 28
Total diversified risk 70 80 33 53

Non-trading market nsk Structural interest rate risk arses in the Group's core batance sheel as a result of mismatches 1n
the repricing of interest rate sensitive financial assets and liabilites  The associated interest rate nsk 1s managed within
VaR hmits and through the use of models to evaluate the sensiivity of earnings to movements 1n interest rates The
repricing profile and related interest rate sensitivity of the Group's financial assets and habilities 15 set out In Note 24 The
Group does nol maintan material non-trading foreign currency open postions  [n general, the Group’s policy 15 to match
assets and liabiliies 1n the same currency or to mutigate currency risk through the use of currency swaps Details of
significant foreign currency net open positions are set out in Note 25(e)

The more sigrficant market risk-related activities of a non-trading nature undertaken by the Group, the related rnisks
assoclated with those activities and the types of derivative financial instruments used to manage and mitigate such nisks
are summansed as follows -

Actiity Risk Risk_ mitigant
Management of the return on Reduced profitability due to a fall in Receve fixed interest rate swaps
varable rate assets funded by short term interest rates

shareholders’ funds

Fixed rate assets funded by floating Sensitivity to increases in short term Pay fixed interest rate swaps
rate habihibes interest rates
Investment in foreiwgn currency assels Sensitivity to strengtheming of US$ Currency swaps

agamnst other currencies

Profits generated 1n foreign currencies  Sensitivity to strengtherung of US$ Forward foreign exchange contracts
agawnst other currencies and purchased currency options
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21 RISK MANAGEMENT (contmued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity management policies are designed 1o ensure that funds are avaiabile at alf umes to meet the funding requirements of the
Group, even In adverse conditions  In normal concitons the cbjective 1s to ensure that there are sufficient funds available not only to
meet current financial commitments but also to facilitate business expansion  These objectives are met through the application of prudent
Iquidity controls  These controls provide secunty of access to funds without undue exposure to increased costs from the hquidation of
assets ar the aggressive bidding for deposits  The Group's iquidity controls ensure that, over the short term, the future profile of cash
flows from matunng assels 1s adequately maiched to the maturity of habilites Liquidity controls also provide for the mainlenance of a
stock of hgund and readily realisable assets and a diversified deposit base in terms of both maturites and range of depositors

An anatysis of available-for-sale securities by raung classification is set out in Note 6 (a} The maturity profile of assels and
liabilies 1s set out in Note 23

Operational nisk
Operational nsk 15 the nisk of unexpected losses resulting fram madequate or falled mternal controls or procedures, sysiems fatlures,
fraud, business imerruption, compliance breaches, human error, managemsnt failure or inadequate staffing

A tramework and methodology has been developed to identify and control the various operational nisks While operanonal risk cannot
be entirely elmunated, it 1s managed and mitigated by ensuning that the appropnate infrasiructure, conirols, systems, procedures and
trained and competent people are in place throughout the Group A strong intemal audit function makes regular, independent
apprasals of the control environmert in all idenufied sk areas Adequalely tested contingency arrangements are also in place to
support operations in the event of a range of possible disaster scenarios

22 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF RISK ASSETS

311203 311202

Placements & Securities Loans and Credit-related Total Totat
other liqud advances conuingent
assels items

US$ millions US$ mullions US$ miflions  USS mulhons  USS milhons ~ US$ millions

GCC 1,048 0 1,129 3 2,940 8 1,397 8 6,515 9 5,727 1
Other Middle East & North Afnca 1780 118 6 2402 1186 655 4 488 2
Europe 1,433 8 3,778 3 4106 2412 5,863 9 5,530 5
North Amenica 3243 4,597 1 648 3177 5,303 9 5,412 9
Asia 2540 3623 1032 190 7385 87586
Latin Amenica - 498 - - 498 116 0

3,238 1 10,035 4 3,759 6 2,094 3 19,127 4 18,150 3

An analysis of derivative and foreigr: exchange instruments is set out in Note 25
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23 MATURITIES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The matunity profile of assets and habilites based on the remaining periods to contractual malunty dates was as foilows -

Within 4 months Years Years Over 5 years Total
3 months to 1 year 2and 3 4and b and other
US$ milions US$ milhons US$ milions _ USS milions _ US$ milions ___ US$ mulhons
At 315t December 2003
Cash and other liquid assets 190 4 246 - - - 2150
Placements 2,907 0 1161 - - - 3,0231
Securities 1,6619 3831 1,161 6 1,004 7 5,824 1 10,035 4
Loans and advances 942 2 8245 8816 6515 4598 3,759 6
Fixed & other assets 1884 37T e 432 2693
Total asseis 5,889 9 1,386 0 2,0832 1,656 2 6,327 1 17,302 4
Deposits 9,071 5 1,2338 300 48 - 10,340 1
Securittes sold under
agreements to repurchase 2,168 7 8378 - - - 3,006 5
Securives sold but not
yet purchased 271 2 . - - - 2712
Other Liabilities 266 7 430 251 240 2857 644 5
Term financing - 750 601 3 7250 2500 31,6513
Shareholders’ equity - —" - - 1,388 8 1,388 8
Liabihiies &
shareholders’ equity 11,778 1 2,189 6 656 4 753 8 1,924 5 17,302 4
At 315! December 2002
Total assets 5,047 0 1,837 1 23063 1,831 6 5,214 5 16,236 5
Liabifities &
shareholders’ equity 100105 3,690 5 617 4 3971 1,521 0 16 236 5

The asset and llability maturities are based on contractual repayment arrangements and as such do not lake account of the
effective maturiues of deposits as indicated by the Group's depesit retention records Counterparties each with deposits over
US$10 0 milhkon at 315t December 2003 had average depostts throughout 2003 amounting to US$8,849 6 million (2002
US$9,865 5 midlion) Formal hquidity controls are nevertheless based on contractual asset and hability maturities
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24 INTEREST RATE RISK

The repricing profile and effective interest rates of the various assel and hability categones were as follows -

Withtn Months Months Over Non-interest
3 months 4to6 Tto12 1 year bearing items

USS milhons US$ millrons USS milhens  USS millions __ US$ mithons  USS mallons

At 315 December 2003

Total

Cash and other hiquid assets 190 4 22 224 - - 2150
Placements 2,832 0 108 3 78 750 - 3.0231
Trading securities 1,425 6 - - - 1580 1,583 6
Available-for-sale securities -

- Fixed rate 288 86 1 750 4114 - 6013

- Floating rate 6,5116 7558 45 2 - - 73126

- Equities & equity funds - - - - 5379 5379
Loans and advances 2,817 1 10231 915 103 (182 4) 3,759 6
Fixed & other assets e e e e 2893 2693
Total assets _ 138055 19755 2419 _ 4967 _ 7828 __ 17,3024
Deposits 9,464 4 4055 440 2 300 - 10,340 1
Secunities sold

under agreements

to repurchase 2,168 7 2195 618 3 - - 3,006 5
Securities sold but not

yet purchased 2712 - - - - 2112
Other habilities - - - - 644 5 644 5
Term financing 1,616 0 - - 353 - 1,651 3
Shareholders' equity e e 1,3888 1,388 8
Liabilities &

sharenoiders' equty 13,5203 6250 _ 10585 653 20333 17,3024
Interest rate sensiivity gap 285 2 1,3505 (816 6) 4314 (1,2505

Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap 285 2 1,635 7 819 1 1,250 5 -

At 31% December 2002
Cumulative interest rate
sensiivity gap 1251 1750 267 2 955 5 -

Effactive
Interest
Rates
%

128
730
4 60

330
252

242

132

151

386

169
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24 INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)

The repricing profile 1s based on the remaiming pericd to the next interest repricing date The repricing profile of placements
incorporates the effect of interest rate swaps used 10 lock-int a return on the Group’s net free capital funds Derivative financial
instruments that have been used for assel and hability management purposes to hedge exposure 1o nlerest rate risk are
incorporated In the repricing profiles of the refated hedged assets and liabiliies  The non specific foan provision 1s deducted
from non-interest beaning assets

The substantal majorily of assets and habiliies reprice within one year Accordingly there 1s a hmited exposure o interest rate
risk The principal interest rate risk beyond one year as set out in the asset and hability repricing profile represents investments
in fixed rate government securities with a maximum onginal matunity of two years At 315t December 2003 the modified
duration of these fixed rate government secunities was 1 4 Modified duration represents the approximate percentage change
In the portfolio value resulting from a 100 basis point change in yteld More precisely in dollar terms, the price value of a
basis point of the fixed rate government securities was US$4 3 million

Based on the repnicing profile at 318 December 2003, and assuming that the financial assets and habiliies were to remain unkil matunty
or settlement with no action taken by the Group to alter the interest rate nsk exposure, an immediate and sustained 1 per cent increase
In Interest rates across all matunties would result i a reduction 1n net income before Lax for the following year and i1 the Group’s equity
by approximately US$7 4 mifion and US$9 4 mullion respectively (2002 1US$4 6 million and US$5 9 million respectively) The impact
on the Group's equity represents the cumulative effect of the increase in nterest rates over the entre duration of the mismaiches in the
repnicing profile of the interest rate sensitive financial assets and hatilites

The Value-at-Risk by risk ciass for the Group's trading positions is set out 1n Note 27 The market nisk relaung to foreign
exchange and derivative trading instruments is set out in Note 25

25 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS

The Group utiises derivative and foreign exchange instruments to meet the needs of its customers, to generate trading revenues and
as part of its asset and habikty management (ALM} actvity to hedge its own exposure to market nsk Derivative instruments are
contracts whose value 1s derived from one or more financial instruments or indices They include futures, forwards, swaps and
optiors in the interest rate, foreign exchange and equity markets Denivatives and foreign exchange are subject to the same types
of credit and market risk as other financial instruments The Group has appropriate and comprehensive Board-approved policies
and procedures for the control of exposure to both market and credit nsk from its derivative and foreign exchange activities

In the case of derivative transactions, the nolional pnincipal typically does not change hands k& is simply a quantity which 1s used
to calculate payments While notiohal pnincipal 1s a volume measure used n the derivative and foreign exchange markets, it 1s
neither a measure of market nor credit risk The Group's measure of credit exposure 1s the cost of replacing contracts at current
market rates should the counterparty default prior to the settlement date Credn nisk amounits represent the gross unrealised gatns
on non margined transactions before taking account of any collateral held or any master netting agreements in place
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25 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group participates in both exchange traded and over-the-counter (OTC) derivative markets Exchange traded nstruments
are executed through a recognised exchange as standardised contracts and primarily comprise futures and optiens OTC
contracts are executed between two counterparties who negotiate specific agreement terms, ncluding the underlying
instrument, notional amount, matunity and, where appropriate exercise price In general, the terms and conditions of these
transactions are tailored to the requirements of the Group’s customers although conform to normal market praclice Industry
standard documentabon is used, most commonly in the form of a master agreement The existence of a master netung
agreement 15 intended to provide protection to the Group in the event of a counlerparty default

The Group's principal foreign exchange transaclions are forward foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and currency
options Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreemenis to buy or sell a specified quanuty of foreign exchange on a
speaific fulure date at an agreed rate A currency swap involves the exchange, or notional exchange, of equivalent amounts
of two currencies and a commitment lo exchange nterest periodically until the principa! amounts are re-exchanged on a
specified future date Currency options provide the buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell a fixed
amount of a currency at a specified exchange rate on or before a specified future date As compensation for assurning the
option nisk, the option seller (or writer} receives a premium at the start of the option perod

The Group's principal interest rate-related derwvative transactions are Interesl rate swaps, forward rate agreements, futures and
options An interest rate swap ts an agreement between wo parues to exchange fixed rale and floating rate interest by means
of periodic payments based upon a notional principal amount and the interest rates defined m the contract Certain
agreements combine interest rate and foreign currency swap transactions, which may or may not include the exchange of
principal amounts In a forward rate agreement, two parties agree a fulure settlement of the difference between an agreed
rate and a future interest rate, applied to a notional principal amount for an agreed period The settlement, which generaliy
occurs at the start of the contract period, 15 the discounted present value of the payment that would otherwise be made at the
end of that period An interest rate future is an exchange traded contract for the delivery of a standardised amount of a fixed
\hcome security or ime deposit at a future specified date Interest rate optrons, including caps, floors and collars, provide the
buyer with the right, but not the obligauon, either to purchase or sell an interest rate financial instrument at a specified price
or rate on or before a specified future date

The Group's principal equity relaled derivative transactions are equity and stock index options An equity opuon provides the
buyer with the right, but not the obligation, either to purchase or sell a specrfied stock or index at a specified price of level on
or before a specified future date

+> Page 64 <4




25 DERIVANIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (continued)

a)

b;

-~

Product analysis

The table below summanses the aggregate notional and credit risk amounts of foreign exchange and interest rate-related
denvalive contracts

Notional amounts Credn nisk
Trading Hedging Total amounts
US$ milions US$ millions US$ mulhons US$ millions
At 315t December 2003
Foreign exchange contracts -

Unmatured spot, forward and futures contracts 21721 29163 5,088 4 746

Options purchased 780 - 780 .

Opuons written 570 - 570 -

2,307 1 2,916 3 5,223 4 746
Interest rate contracts -

Futures 5,384 0 - 5,384 0 -

Interest rate swaps and swaplions 1,188 7 5,882 2 7,070 9 196

Optrons, caps and floors purchased 2,576 0 126 2,588 6 -

Options, caps and floors written 4,192 1 50 4,197 1 -

13,3408 5,889 8 19,240 6 196
Commodity contracts -

Futures 40 - 40 -
Total 15,6519 8,816 1 24,468 0 94 2
Al 315! December 2002
Total 19,498 6 95439 29,042 5 59 7

Financial futures are exchange traded and therefore not subject to credit sk There is no credit risk in respect of options,
caps and floors written as they represent obligations of the Group

At 313 December 2003 the Value-at Risk of the foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity-related dervative rading contracts
analysed in the table above, as calculated 1n accordance with the basis set out in Note 28, was US$1 7 mulion, US$0 5 mitlion
and ntl respectively (2002 US3$0 2 million, US$1 O mullion and mil respectively} Value-at-Risk 1s a measure of market risk exposure
and 15 accordingly separate and in addiion 10 the credit nsk exposure represented by the credit risk amounis 1n the table above

Counterparty Analysis

311203 311202

Credit risk amounts Banks Other Total Total
US$ mithons US$ millions US$ millions US$ mithons

OECD countries 792 o4 796 44 8
GCC countries 30 95 125 145
Other countries 20 01 21 04
84 2 100 942 597

Credit nsk 1s concentrated on major OECD-based banks
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25 DERIVATIVE AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE INSTRUMENTS (continued)

¢) Maturity analysis

MNotional amounts Year 1 Years Years Over Total
2&3 4&5 5 years

USS mitlions ~ USS allions Us$ millions Us$ milhions US$ milions.
At 315! December 2003
Foreign exchange contracls 51198 1036 - - 5,223 4
Interest rate contracts 13,8590 2,884 9 5611 1,9356 19,240 6
Commeoedity contracts 40 - - - 40
Total 18,982 8 2,988 5 561 1 1,9356 24,468 0

At 315 December 2002
Total 24,8879 1,080 6 8252 2,248 8 29,042 5

The Group's denvative and foreign exchange activiies are predominantly short-term i nature Transactions with maturities
over one year represent erther fully offset trading transacions or transactions that are designated, and guabfy, as far value
and cash flow hedges

d) Fair value analysis
311203 311202
Positive Negative Positive Negative
farr value fair value fair vatue fair value
US$ milions US$ milbions US$ millions US$ miliions
Derivatives held for trading -

Forward foreign exchange contracts 68 (201) 52 (11 5)

Interest rate futures - {0 4) 02 02

Interest rate swaps and swaptions 190 (24 0) 127 (16 8)

Interest rate options, caps and floors 40 {40) 113 21)

298 (48 5) 294 (30 6)
Denvatives held as fair value hedges -

Interest rate swaps 57 {209 3) 17 (278 3)
Dervatives held as cash flow hedges -

Interest rate swaps - - 18 -
Gross positve/ {negative} fair value 355 (257 8) 329 (308 9}
Effect of master neting agreemenits - - 07 07
Net amount included in

other assets / (other iabihties) 355 {257 8) 322 (308 2)

e) Significant net open positions

There were no significant derivatve trading or foreign currency net open posittons at either 315t December 2003 or
at 315! December 2002
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26 CREDIT-RELATED FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit-related financial instruments include commiments to extend cred, standby letters of credit and guarartees which are
designed to meet the financing requirements of customers The credit nisk on these transactions 15 generally less than the contractual
amount The table below sets out the notional principal amounts of outstanding credit-related contingent stems and the risk-werghted
exposures calculated i accordance with the capital adequacy guidelines of the Base! Committee on Banking Superwviston

311203 311202
Notional Risk- Notional Risk-
principal weighted principal weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
US$ millions US$ milhons US$ miliens US$ millions
Drrect credn subsututes 104 6 103 4 202 2 988
Transaction-related contingent iiems 5737 2770 6071 296 6
Short-term self-iquidaung trade-related
contingent items 2155 311 128 4 201
Commiments, including undrawn
loan commitments and underwnting
commitments under note Issuance
and revolving faciities 1,200 5 5155 1,303 4 5211
2,094 3 9270 2,241 1 936 6

27 CONTINGENT UABILIFIES

Litigation

The Bank and its subsidiaries are engaged n litigation in various junisdictions The libgaton involves claims by and against
Group companies which have anisen in the ordinary course of business The directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims
pending against Group companies and based on the adwvice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome
of these claims will not have a matena! adverse effect on the financial position of the Group
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The nisk asset rato calculated in accordance wilth the capial adequacy guidehines of the Basel Committee on Banking

Supervision was as follows -

311203 311202
US$ milhons US$ milhions
Regulatory capital base
Tier | capital
Sharehclders’ equity 1,388 8 1,128 2
Adjustment to exclude net fair value (gains)/losses B3y o Ans
Adjusted Tier | caprtal 1336 1z2i00
Tier Il capntal
Subordinated loans 1500 1500
Non-specific loan provision subject to 1 25%
risk-weighted exposure limitation 166 2 1538
Fair value gain on marketable equity securities
ctassified as available-for-sale 58 -
Total Tier Il capual 3220 3038
Total regulatory capital base (&) 1,657 6 1,573 8
Risk-weighted exposure
Notional Risk- Nouonal Risk-
principal weighted principal weighted
amount exposure amount exposure
US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions US$ millions
Credit risk
Balance sheet items
Cash and other hguid assets 2150 382 1476 292
Placements 3,023 1 656 7 3,024 0 642 4
Securiies 10,035 4 7,079 6 9,481 8 6,716 3
Loans and advances 3.7596 3,346 5 3,255 8 2,9570
Fixed & other assets 2693 1693 3273 2292
17,302 4 11,290 3 16,236 5 105741
Off-balance sheet items
Credit-related contingent items 2,0943 9270 2,241 1 936 6
Foreign exchange-related wems 5,223 4 120 3,9091 107
Interest rate-related tems 19,2406 86 251334 129
26,558 3 947 6 31,2836 960 2
Credit risk-weighted exposure 12,2379 11,5343
Market risk
General market risk 3391 2532
Specific market nsk 7176 5187
Market nsk-wetghted exposure 1,056 6 77119
Total risk-weighted exposure b 13,2945 12,306 2
Risk asset ratio [ (a}/{b) x 100 } 12 5% 12 8%
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28 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

In accordance with the capital adequacy guidelmes of the Bank's regulator, the Bahrain Monatary Agency (BMA)}, revaluation
gans and losses arising on the remeasurement o fair value of available-for-sale securities and denivative cash flow hedging
transactions are excluded from Tier | capual with the exception of losses arising on the remeasurement to fair value of
marketable equily securiies classified as avalable-for-sale In accordance with the BMA's guidetines, gams arnising on the
remeasurement to fair value of marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale are inciuded in Tier )l capital At
315! December 2003, Tier Il capial included a net fair value gain of US$5 8 mulion (2002 Tier | - US$2 2 million toss) in
respect of marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale

The Group calculates the capital requirement for general market nisk using a Value-al-Risk model 1n accordance with the
provisions of the Amendment to the Capital Accord to Incorporate Market Risks issued by the Basel Committee 10 January
1996 The use of the internal mode! approach for the calcufation of the capital requirement for general market nsk has been
approved by the Bank’s regulator, the BMA The muluphcation factor o be applied to the Value-at-Risk calculated by the
internal model has been set at the regulatory minimum of 3 0 {2002 3 0) by the BMA

Value at-Risk 1s calculated based on a 99 per cent confidence level, a ten-day holding penad and a twelve-month historical
observation period of unweighted data from the DataMetrics™ regulatory data set Correlations across broad risk categories
arg excluded Prescribed addittons in respect of specific risk are made to the general market risk The resultart measure of
market risk 1s multiplied by 12 5, the reciprocal of the 8 per cent mimmum ¢aprial ratio, to give markgt nsk-weighted exposure
on a basis consistent with credit rnisk-weighted exposure

29 FIDUCIARY ACTIVITIES

The Group conducts 1nvestment management and other fiduciary activiies on behalf of chents Assets held tn trust or in a
fiduciary capacity are not assets of the Group and accordingly have not been included in the consohidated financial statements
The aggregate amount of the funds concerned at 313! December 2003 was U5$11,348 O milion (2002 US$6,346 8 million)

30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table set out on the next page compares the estimated fair values of all on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments
with their respective book values With the exception of trading secunties, available-for-sale secunties and derivative financial
nstruments, the Group’s financial instruments are accounted for under the histoncal cost method By contrast the far value
represents the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a habdity settled, 1n a transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction Differences therefore can arise between book values under the historical cost
method and fair value estmates Underlying the definiton of fair value 1s the presumplon that the Group 1s a going concern
without any mtention or reguirement to curtail materially the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse
terms Generally accepted methods of determining fair value inciude reference to quoted market prices or to the pricing
prevailing for similar financial instruments and the use of esumation techmiques such as discounted cash flow analysis
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 315! December 2003

30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Book value Fair value Excess

Uss millions US$ millions US$ millions
At 315! December 2003
Assets
Cash and other hquid assets 2150 2150 -
Placements 3,0231 30231 -
Trading securities 1,583 6 1,5836 -
Available-for-sale secuniies B,4518 B,4518 -
Loans and advances 3,759 6 3.7831 235
Fixed & other assets 2693 2693 .
Liabilities
Deposits 10,3401 10,3401 -
Secunities sold under agreernents to repurchase 30065 3,006 5 .
Securities sold but nat yet purchased 2712 2712 -
Other habilities 6445 6445 -
Term financing 1,6513 1,6513 -
Credit-related contingent items -
Excess of net fair values over net book values 235
At 315! December 2002
Excess of net fair values over net book values 16 4

——————— s s —

Based on the valuation methodologies outhned below, the net fair values of all en - and off -balance sheet financial instruments
exceeded their net book values as at 313 December 2003 by US$23 5 mithon (2002 US$16 4 m:llion)

a)

b

——

c)

Securities

The fair value of securibies was based on quoted market prices with the excepuon of investments in unguoted equily
investments, the fair vatues of which were based on thewr carrying amounts

Loans and advances

The fair value of floating rate loans was principally esumated at book value less provisions for iImpairment The faur value
of troubled saverergn debt was based on market bid prices The fair value of impatred loans was estimated at the
recoverable amount, measured as the present value of expected future cash flows discounted based on the interest rate at
the nceplon of the loan The fair value of fixed rate loans was esimated on a discounted cash flow basts utihsing discount
rates equal lo prevailing market rates of interest in the respective currencies for loans of similar residual matunty and ¢radit
guality The repricing profile of loans and advances is set out 1n Note 24 A¥ but US$10 3 milhon (2002 US$11 2 mthon)
of loans and advances reprice within one year

Term financing
The fair value of term financing was based on book value as the financing s on a floaling rate basts and as the applicable margins

approxtmate the current spreads that would apply for borrowings with similar matunues The term financing reprices at
least seri-annualty
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30 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
d} Other on-balance sheet items
The fair values of foreign exchange and dervative financtal instrumenits were based on market prices, discounted cash flow
models or opuion pricing models as appropriate The fair values of all other on-balance sheet ilems approximated their

respective book values due o their short term nature

e

~—

Credil-related contingent items

There was no material fair value excess or shortfall in respect of credit-related off-balance sheet financial instruments, which
include commitments to extend credw, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as the related future income streams
reflected contractual fees and commussions actually charged al the balance sheet date for agreements of similar credit
standhing and matunty Specific provisions have been made n respect of indwvidual transactions, where a potential for loss
has been identified Such provisions are included 1n prowvisions for impairment of loans and advances

31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders by the weighed average
number of shares th 1ssue during the year

2003 2002

Net income after tax (US$ mithons) 106 1 853

Woeighed average number of shares in issue (millions) 1,000 0 1,000 0

Basic earnings per share US$0 11 US$0 09

32 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The principal subsidiary companies were as follows -
Country of Ownershup Interest

Incorporation 311203 311202

% %

Guif International Bank (UK} Limited United Kingdom 100 100

GIB (UK) Captal Investments Limited Unmited Kingdom 100 100

SIB Financial Adwvisory Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100

GIBINVESTE C Bahram 100 100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 315! December 2003

33 AVERAGE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

The average consoltdated balance sheet was as follows -

Assets

Cash and other hiquid assets
Placements with banks
Trading secunties
Available-for-sale secunties
Loans and advances

Fixed & other assets

Total assets

Liabilittes
Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers

Securibies sold under agreements to repurchase

Secunies sold but not yet purchased
Qther liabilities

Term financing

Subordinated term loans

Total hiabilies

Shareholders’ equity

Total habilities & sharehoiders’ equity
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2003 2002

US$ milhons US$ mullsons
2697 154 7
3,143 4 29112
1,312 4 1,378 4
8,404 8 7,954 2
3,5550 3,2797
—_..A013 4264
17,086 6 16,104 6
5,902 6 6,608 9
4,499 0 4,854 5
3,1315 1,866 7
146 4 952
7633 4846
1,243 9 8871
1500 1500
15,836 7 14,947 0
1,249 9 1,157 6
17,086 6 16,104 6




34 PARENT COMPANY

The condensed unconsolidated financial statements of Gulf International Bank B S C were as follows -

a) Condensed balance sheet

b

-~

Assets

Cash and other hgquid assets
Placements with banks
Trading securities
Available-for-sale securities
Investment in GIB {(UK) Limited
{oans and advances

Fixed & other assets

Total assels

Liabihnes

Deposits from banks

Deposits from customers

Securittes sold under agreements to repurchase
Other habilities

Term financing

Subordinated term loans

Total habilities

Shareholders’ equity

Total habilities & shareholders” equity

The investment in GIB (UK} bimited 1s accounted for based on the equity method ¢f accounting

Condensed income statement

Net interest income

Provisions for securities

Prowisions for loan and advances
Net interest income after provisions
Other income

Net tnterest and other income
Operating expenses

Profit from operations

Result of subsidiary

Net income before tax

Taxaton charge on overseas activiies
Net income after tax

At 311203 At 311202
US$ millions US$ millions
873 161
2,2349 2,247 4

192 4 1607
8,276 8 7,023 1
3086 2459
3,6221 3,275 5
209 6 2143
14,9317 13,1830
4,847 6 4,7213
34958 3,3504
2,9978 2,467 2
450 4 4858

1,501 3 8800
1500 1500
13,5429 12,0547
1,888 1,128 3
14,9317 13,183 0
Year ended Year ended
311203 311202
__ US$ millions US$ mithons
126 1 1252

183 06
124 (0 5)

954 1151

919 88 2

187 3 203 3

708 630

1165 1403

{10 2) (54 5)

106 3 858

02 05

106 1 853

+> Page 73 <4




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
management are commutted to high standards of
corporate governance Following the adopuon of the
Bank’s new strategy in 2001, the orgamsation was
restructured to provide the appropriate governance
framework, including ctearly defined reporting lines
for the business and support units

There 1s an effective and appropnately
constituted Board of Durectors which receives from
management, such information as 15 required to
properly fulfil its duties

The Board comprises mine non-executive
directors, including the Chairman and Vice
Chairman, who together bring a wide range of skills
and cxperience to the Board

The Board 15 responsible for the stralegic
direction of the Bank, maintaiming an appropnate
organisation structure, approving major pelicies,
momtoring business performance, operations and the
integnty of internal controls, nurtunng preper and
cthical behaviour, providing appropnate oversight
and conductg corporate governance n a transparent
manner There 1s a clear division of roles and
responsibilities between the Board of Dnrectors and

the Chief Executive Officer

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

As prescnibed n the Bank’s Articles of
Association, the Board plans at least four meetings
per year, with further meenngs to occur at the
discretion of the Board The Board 15 generally
responsible for 1ts agenda which, when applicable, 15
prepared in consultation with management

The Board 15 assisted by the following comnittees
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Commttee has been reestablished to act for the
Board in its absence The Commuttece wiil handle
matters requiring Board review that anse between
full board meetngs It will relieve the Board of
detailed reviews of mformation and operational
activiies, so that it can concentrate on activiies
reserved for the full board as per the Bank’s Articles

of Association and applicable laws

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Commutiee assists the Board in fulfulling s
statutory and fiduciary responsibthties wath respect
to wnternal controls, accounting policies, auditing
and financial reporting practices The Commuttee
assists the Board in 1its oversight of (1) the integnity
and reporung of the Bank’s quarterly and annual
financial statements, (1) comphance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and (1n) the independence
and performance of the Bank’s internal and
external auditors

As per the Bank’s Articles of Associanon, the
General Assembly 1s dwrectly respensible for the
appomiment and compensation of the external
audiiors who audit the Bank’s financial statements

The function of the Commuttee 15 oversight
Although the Board of Directors 1s responsible for the
mtegnty of the Bank’s financial statements, the
management 15 responstble  for maintaining
appropriate accounting and financial reporting
principles as well as intemal controls and procedures
designed to assure comphance with accounting
standards and applicable laws and regulations The

independent internal and external eauditors are




responsible for planning and performmg proper audits
on the adequacy of the Bank’s intemal controls

The Committee 15 responsible for
mantaining an avenue of communication with the
external auditors, management, the mternal auditor

and the Board of Directors

RISK POLICY COMMITTEE

The primary objective of the nisk management

strategy adopted by the Board of Durectors 1s to

preserve the Bank’s capital base, to optimse the
allocation of capital and to foster a proactive nsk
culture bank-wide The Board of Directors 1s
responsible for setting the Bank’s overall nsk
appetite, paramcters and hmits within which 1t
conducts its business activities

The Board Risk Policy Commuittee assists
the Board 1n fulfilling 1ts oversight responsibibiies

i respect of

+ The nsk profile of the Bank,

» The nisks sherent 1n the businesses of the Bank,
management and the control processes with
respect to such nsks,

» Determination of overall policy hmits usmg a set
of parameters and rules based on the Bank’s
portfolio, business line economics, overall capital
adequacy requirements and target risk rating, and

« The 1ntegrily of the Bank's systems of
operational controls regarding legal and

regulatory comphance

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The Commuttee provides assistance io the Board i

fulfithng 1ts oversight responsibilities in matters relatmg
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to executive compensation and adminstration of the
Bank’s compensation and benefits plans  The
Compensation Commuttee 15 responsible for penodic
reviews of the pohcy on management successton,
including the criteria for the Chief Executive Officer and
other executive management positons

All directors are appomted or re-clected
every three years according to the Bank’s Articles of

Assoclalion

THE MANAGEMENT
The management, which 1s responsible for the
implementation of Board approved strategy, policies,
effective controls and day-to-day management of the
Bank, 1s headed by the Chief Executive Officer, who
is assisted by four managing directors responsible for
nsk management, {reasury, operattons and
admumstration, and merchant banking The
following management committees have been
established to assist the Chief Executive Officer in
the management of the Bank — Management, Group
Risk, Bank ALCO (Assets and Liabilies
Management) and Human Resources

The committees of the Board denive their
authonties and powers from the Board of Directors
and management committecs from the Chief
Executive Officer, based on the authonitres and limits
delegated by the Board of Directors

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of
Association, the Bank holds, annually, a properly
constituted General Assembly and 1ts Board of
Directors, who are clected by the shareholders,
encourage and regularly commumcate with the

Bank’s shareholders and other stakeholders




BIOGRAPHIES OF THE BOARD AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Sheikh Ebrahim Bin Khalifa Al Khalifa @

Chairman, Bahratm Citizen

LLB, Betrut Arab Umversity, Lebanon Sheskh Ebralum was
appomnted as Chairman of the Board of Directors 1in 2001

Since 1993, he has been Undersecretary at the Mustry of
Finance and National Economy, Kingdom of Bahram

Previously, he served as Deputy Govemor of the Bahram
Monetary Agency from 1983-1993, Assistant to the Govemor
of the BMA from 1981-1983, and Head of Banking Control
Department between 1975-1981 Cther current positions
melude Chairman and Managmg Director of Gulf Alumimium
Rolling Mill Company (GARMCO), Chairman of Bahram
Development Bank and Bahrain Institute of Technology and
Member of the Board of Aluminium Bahram (ALBA) and
Faysal Islamic Bank of Lgypt

Mr Abdul Aziz M Al-Abdulkader O @

Vice Chairman, Saudi Aratan Citizen

BA m Busmess Admimstration, the Umiversity of Washington,
USA Mr Al-Abdulkader was appointed to the Board i 2001
He 15 Chairman of the Risk Policy Commutiee He 15 the
founder and owner of the AMA Group of Companies in Saudi
Arabia Other current directorshups include Middle East
Capital Group, Umited Gulf Industnes Company and Natonal
Instalment Company Ltd He 1s a former Chairman of the
Board of Directors of Bank Al-Jazira

Mr Bader A Al Rushald Al-Bader 0 ©

Board Member, Kuwaitt Citizen

BA 1in Commerce, Alexandna University, Egypt Mr Al-Bader
was appointed to the Board in 1978 He served as Chawrman and
Managing Director of Kuwait Investment Company from 1992-
2000 He was Deputy Managing Director of Kuwait Invesiment
Authonty from 1984-1992 He worked 1n vanous positions at
the Minstry of Finance and Oil, Kuwait, from 1969 to 1984
Mr Al-Bader has served as Chawrman and Director of a large
number of Middle Eastern financial sututions

Dr Hamad Bin Sulaiman Al-Baza1 @

Board Member, Saudh Arabian Citizen

BA in Administrauve Sciences, King Saud University, Sauds
Arabia, MS and PhD in Economuws, Colorado State
University, USA Dr Al-Bazai was appointed to the Board in
1999 He 1s Deputy Mimster of Fmance for Econome Affairs
at the Minmistry of Finance, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia He 1s a
Member of the Preparatory Commuttee of the Supreme
Petroleurn Council and a Board Member of the Human
Resources Development Tund, the Southern Region Cement
Company and the Higher Educanon Fund

Mr Mohammed Al-Shumrani & O

Board Member, Saudi Arabtan Citizen

BA in Economucs, King Saud Umversity Riyadh, and MA 1in
Economics, University of Denver, USA Mr Al-Shumrans was
apponted to the Board 1n 2001 He has been Director General
of the Investment Deparniment at the Saudi Arabian Monetary
Agency {SAMA) since 1994 Previous postions at SAMA
mcluded Director, Investment Management Department from
1989-1994 and Assistant Director, Invesiment Management
Department from 1985-1989 Before jomming SAMA i 1974,
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he worked at First National City Bank i Riyadh from 1969-
1974 He 1s currently 2 Board Member of Petromin He also
served as a Board Member at Saud: Industnal Development
Fund, Saudi Credn Bank and Saudi Tumisian Investment
Development Fund

Mr Saker Dhaher Al-Moraikhi @

Board Member, Qatan Crizen

BA degree in Business Admimistration, Cairo Untversity Mr Al-
Moratkhi was appointed to the Board in 1988 He 1s currently
Consultant at the Minster s Office, Mimistry of Finance, Qatar
He commenced his carcer at the Mimstry m 1973 and
immediately prior to his cuzrent pesition, he was Director of the
Financial Affarrs Department Mr Al-Moraikhe 1s a Member of
the Board of Directors of The Arab Investment Company

Mr Mohamed Bin Saif Al-Shamsi © ©

Board Member, UAE Citizen

MBA, Bradford Umiversity, United Kingdom Mr Al-Shams
was appomnted to the Board in 1997 and 1s currently Chairman
of the Audit Commuttee He 15 Consultant at the Mimister s
Office, Miustry of Finance and Industry, Umited Arab
Emurates Previously he served in vanous sentor positions at
the Mimistry of Fmance since 1992 He represents the Mimistry
on the Boards of a number of orgamsatons and financial
msttunions Previous posions snclude Head of the Industnal
Property Rights Directorate Mr Al-Shamsi 1s a former
Member of the Board of Dhrectors of the Emirates
‘Transpartation Company

Mr Saud Nassir A¥Shukaily &

Board Member, Omany Citizen

BS 1n Business Admimstration, Umversity of South Carolina,
and MA m Development Management, Amencan University,
Washingion, DC Mr Al-Shukaily was appomted 1o the Board
in 1999 He 1s currenty Director General of Revenue and
lovestment, Mimastry of Finance, Sultanate of Cman Earlier he
served as Director of the Mmster s Office at the Mimstry of
Civil Services (1994-1996) and at the Mmustry of Nauonal
Economy (1996-1999) He 15 also a Member of the Board of
Directars of Oman Flour Mills, Oman Cement Company and
Petroleum Development Of Oman

Mr Mark Garvin 8 ©®

Board Member, US Citizen

BS, Georgetown Umiversity and MBA, Amencan University,
Washington, DC Mr Garvin was appomted to the Board m
2002 He s Chief Operating Officer of the Europe Middle East
Afnca region and Sensor Country Cfficer for JPMorgan m the
United Kingdom He assumed hts current position i 2001
following the merger between JPMorgan and Chase
Mr Garvint 1s Chauman or a Director of a number of JPMorgan
entiies He 15 also a Dhrector of CLS Bank Services
Internatienal and Brinsh Amenican Business Inc

@ Executive Commattee Member

® Rusk Policy Commiuee Member
®© Audit Commitiee Member

© Compensation Committee Member




SEMIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr Khaled M Al-Fayez

Chief Executive Officer

Sauds Arabian Cauzen

BA Economics, Whitman College, Washington State, USA,
MA n International Relations, MA in Law & Diplomacy
and Ph D 1n Economics and Internatjonal Relatigns,
Fletcher School of Law & Diplomacy, Tufts Umiversity
USA Dr Al-Fayez was Group Chiel Executive Officer of
Gulf Invesiment Corporacion from 1983 to 2001 Dr Al-
Fayez served as GIB s first General Manager from 1976 to
1983 He was previously an Econemic Advisor at the Saudh
Arabian Ministry of T'inance and National Economy and an
Economust and Senior Credit Officer at the Saudi Industnal
Development Fund Dr Al-Fayez is Chairman of the Board
ol Gulf Internattonal Bank (VK) Ltd, Member of the
Advisory Council and Member of the Privatisation
Commuttee of the Supreme Economic Council, Saudi
Arabia, Member of the Advisory Board of The Middle East
[nstitute, Washington, USA and Member of the Board of
the Institute of International Finance, Inc, Washmgton,
uUsa

Mr Matthew C Snyder

Managing Director - Merchant Banking

US Citizen

BA mn Poliical Science, CW Post College, USA and MA 1n
Internattonal Politics, Long Island Umiversity, USA Mr
Snyder first joined GIB's principal subsidiary Gulf
Internattonal Bank (UK) Ltd (then Saud: Interranonal
Bank} in 1993 From 1982 to 1993 he was President and
Chief Execunve Officer of Al Internanional a US-based
diversified, privaie indusinal company He previously
worked for eleven years i the New York offices of
Schroders, a London-based merchant bank He 1s Managing
Darector of Gull International Bank (UK) Ltd

Mr Bachir Barbir

Managing Director - Treasury

Lebanese and Canadian Citizen

Degree i Banking Studies and Business Admimistration
from Sawnt Joseph University, Bewrwt, Lebanon Mr Barbir
was appointed Assistanl General Manager, Assets and
Liabtlities Management 1n 1997 En 1988 he was promoted
to Executive Vice President and Head of the Assets and
Liablities Growp He was previously the Bahrain
Treasurer Mr Barbir joined GIB 1n 1981 Before jomning
GIB he worked for Chase Manhattan Bank 1 both Bahramn
and Lebanon and Credit Hypothecaire in Lebanon
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Mr Mohannad Farouky

Managing Durector - Risk Management

UK Citizen

BA 10 Economics, the Amencan University, Caire and
MBA 1n Finance, the University of Miami, USA From
2000 untill 2002, Mr Farouky was assigned to Guif
Internattonal Bank (UK) Lid as Deputy Managing
Director From 1994 16 2000, he was Global Head of the
Banking Group Mr Farouky joined GI!B 1 Lendon in
1986 as Head of the Europe and Africa Area He 15 a
member of the Board of Directors of Gulf International
Bank (UK) Ltd Before joining GIB, he worked at Citibank
N A n the Middte East 1n a vanety of credit and marketing
posttions, and at Chase Investment Bank Ltd 1n London as
a Managing Director

Dr Fovad M Sinan

Managng Director - Operattons and Admimistration

Saudh Arabian Citizen

Ph D in Engimeering from Purdue Umversity, USA, and
ISMP/AMP  and Finance for Semor Executives
programmes, Harvard Busmess School, USA Dr Sinan
joined GIB 1n 2000 as Operations and Administrateon
Group Head He was previously Executive Vice President
in  the Admmstration Group at Gulf Investment
Corporation, Kuwait He commenced his career in the mud
1970 s with ARAMCO, Ras Tanura Construction Division,
and then wath the Royal Commussion for Jubald & Yanbu -
Jubail project He has served as a member of the Board of
Directors of Middle East Propulston Company Ltd , Gulf
Ferro Alloys Co (SABAYEK) and National Titanium
Dioxide Co (Cristal)
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